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LEVEL OF ASSURANCE
These annual consolidated financial statements have been prepared and audited in compliance with the applicable 
requirements of the Companies Act of South Africa.

CERTIFICATION BY COMPANY SECRETARY
In my capacity as company secretary, I hereby confirm, in terms of section 88(2)(e) of the Companies Act of South Africa, 
that for the year ended 31 March 2020, the Group lodged with the Companies and Intellectual Property Commission all such 
returns as are true, correct and up to date.

RB SMITH
Company Secretary
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

OPINION
We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Sebata Holdings Limited and its subsidiaries (the group) set out on 
pages 13 to 74, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 March 2020, and the consolidated 
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the 
consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a 
summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated financial position 
of the group as at 31 March 2020, and its consolidated financial performance and consolidated cash flows for the year then 
ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards and the requirements of the Companies Act of South 
Africa.

BASIS FOR OPINION
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our responsibilities under those 
standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of 
our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the sections 290 and 291 of the Independent Regulatory Board 
for Auditors’ Code of Professional Conduct for Registered Auditors (Revised January 2018), parts 1 and 3 of the Independent 
Regulatory Board for Auditors’ Code of Professional Conduct for Registered Auditors (Revised November 2018) (together the 
IRBA Codes) and other independence requirements applicable to performing audits of financial statements in South Africa. We 
have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities, as applicable, in accordance with the IRBA Codes and in accordance with other 
ethical requirements applicable to performing audits in South Africa. The IRBA Codes are consistent with the corresponding 
sections of the International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants’ Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants and the 
International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants’ International Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (including 
International Independence Standards) respectively. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and 
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the 
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the 
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion 
on these matters.

To the shareholders of Sebata Holdings Limited

REPORT ON THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

IMPAIRMENT OF INVESTMENT IN ASSOCIATE
Key Audit Matter How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
As at 31 March 2020, the group recognised investments 
in associates in the amount of R588 million (2019: R20 
million).

Following the loss of control over various subsidiaries 
disposed of during the current period, the group 
recognised the remaining equity investment as an equity 
accounted investments in associates due to the significant 
influence exercised. In accordance with the requirements 
of the financial reporting framework, the Group is required 
to measure the remaining equity investment retained in 
the former subsidiary at its fair value on the date when 
control is lost. The determination of the fair value of the 
investments in associates on the date when control is lost, 
is subject to significant judgement and assumptions.

Subsequent to initial recognition, in accordance with 
IAS 36 – Impairment of assets, the group is required to 
consider whether there are indicators of impairment with 
respect to investments in associates, and conducts an 
impairment test to determine the recoverable amount 
of the investment in associate, where indicators are 
identified.

These investments are unlisted and therefore the valuation 
requires the use of director’s judgement and estimates 
in the determination of the recoverable amount of the 
investment.

The fair value determination on loss of control, and 
subsequent impairment assessment is considered a key 
audit matter to our audit due to the significant judgement 
and assumptions applied in determining these valuations.      

In response to the key audit matter identified, we have 
performed the following procedures:

• We obtained a understanding of the groups policy 
with regard to the measurement of equity investments 
retained in the former subsidiaries subsequent 
to disposal and the subsequent assessment of 
impairment of investments in associates;

• We assessed whether the methodology used to 
measure the equity investment retained in the 
former subsidiary at its fair value on disposal is in 
accordance with the requirements of IFRS 13: Fair 
Value Measurement;

• We determined whether there are any indicators of 
impairment to the carrying value of the investment in 
associates as at year end, through our knowledge of 
the business and managements identification of the 
risk of impairment;

• Where an impairment indicator is identified, we 
assessed the methodology used by management to 
estimate the recoverable amount of each investment 
in accordance with the requirements of IAS 36: 
Impairment of Assets;

• Where these indicators were identified, we 
evaluated the reasonability of the assumptions and 
methodologies used by management to determine 
the recoverable amount of the investment in 
associates. These would include, where applicable, the 
review of future cash flow forecasts, growth rates and 
discount rates or the assumptions and calculations 
of fair value less cost of disposal for cash generating 
units with reference to recent market transactions;

• Assessing the operational disruption caused to the 
Group’s business and understanding the actions 
taken by management and the directors to mitigate 
the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic to date.

• We considered the adequacy of the group’s disclosure 
in terms of the applicable accounting standards.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

IMPAIRMENT ASSESSMENT OF OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS
Key Audit Matter How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
As at 31 March 2020, the group recognised other financial 
assets at amortised cost valued at approximately R987 
million (2019: R80 million) which consists mostly of 
consideration receivable on the disposal of subsidiaries.

As described in the notes to the group financial statements 
the impairment loss is determined in accordance with 
IFRS 9 - Financial Instruments.

The application of IFRS 9’s requirements related to credit 
loss allowances is considered to be a key audit matter 
due to the significant degree of judgement required in 
assessing the impairment of financial instruments.

Those judgements include amongst others, the  
classification of the financial instrument on initial 
recognition, defining the default and determining the 
stage of impairment the financial instrument falls within.

The general approach was applied for these other financial 
assets.

Our audit procedures focused on the evaluation of the 
key judgements and estimates used in the directors’ 
determination of the expected credit loss. The procedures 
on key judgements included:

• Obtained a understanding of the group’s process for 
estimating the credit loss allowance;

• Assessed the group’s IFRS 9 credit loss allowance 
policy, modelling technique and methodology 
against the requirements of IFRS 9;

• Reviewed the group’s business model assessment 
to confirm the financial instruments are correctly 
classified on initial recognition;

• Assessed under the general approach, the 
classification of financial asset between the various 
stages of credit impaired, taking into account the 
default rate;

• Assessing the financial health of the underlying 
security against which the financial assets have been 
advanced to determine the reasonability of the 
present value of anticipated future cash flows;

• Researching current market conditions and macro-
economic indicators for indications of financial 
distress, and assessed the forward looking 
assumptions applied by management in their 
calculation;

• Testing the mathematical accuracy of the model to 
ensure the calculation is considered to be reasonable.

• We confirmed the adequacy of the group’s disclosure 
in the financial statements in terms of IFRS 9.

OTHER INFORMATION
The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information included in the 
document titled “Sebata Holdings Limited - Annual Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2020” 
which includes the Directors’ Report, the Audit Committee’s Report and the Company Secretary’s Certificate as required by the 
Companies Act of South Africa, which we obtained prior to the date of this report, and the document titled “Sebata Holdings 
Limited Integrated Annual Report for the year ended 31 March 2020”, which is expected to be made available to us after the 
date of this report. The other information does not include the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report 
thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express an audit 
opinion or any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, 
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge 
obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed on the other 
information obtained prior to the date of this auditor’s report, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other 
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The directors are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in accordance 
with International Financial Reporting Standards and the requirements of the Companies Act of South Africa, and for such 
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are 
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the group’s ability to continue as 
a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting 
unless the directors either intend to liquidate the group or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are 
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. 
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will 
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material 
if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on 
the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional scepticism throughout 
the audit. We also:

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or 
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and 
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is 
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, 
or the override of internal control.

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate 
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related 
disclosures made by the directors.

• Conclude on the appropriateness of the director’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit 
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt 
on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required 
to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such 
disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the 
date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going 
concern.

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, 
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that 
achieves fair presentation.

• Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business activities 
within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for the direction, 
supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.
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Nexia SAB&T 
31 July 2020

Director: J. Engelbrect
Registered auditor
Centurion
119 Witch-Hazel, Technopark, Centurion

We communicate with the directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant 
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the directors with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding 
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on 
our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with the directors, we determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit 
of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these 
matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare 
circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of 
doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

REPORT ON OTHER LEGAL AND REGULATORY REQUIREMENTS
In terms of the IRBA Rule published in Government Gazette Number 39475 dated 4 December 2015, we report that Nexia 
SAB&T has been the auditor of Sebata Holdings Limited and its subsidiaries for 9 years.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
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The directors are required by the Companies Act of South Africa to maintain adequate accounting records and are responsible
for the content and integrity of the annual consolidated financial statements and related financial information included in this
report. It is their responsibility to ensure that the annual financial statements satisfy the financial reporting standards as to 
form and content and present fairly the statement of financial position, results of operations and business of the group, and 
explain the transactions and financial position of the business of the group at the end of the financial year. The annual financial 
statements are based upon appropriate accounting policies consistently applied throughout the group and supported by 
reasonable and prudent judgements and estimates.

The directors acknowledge that they are ultimately responsible for the system of internal financial control established by the
group and place considerable importance on maintaining a strong control environment. To enable the directors to meet 
these responsibilities, the board sets standards for internal control aimed at reducing the risk of error or loss in a cost 
effective manner. The standards include the proper delegation of responsibilities within a clearly defined framework, effective 
accounting procedures and adequate segregation of duties to ensure an acceptable level of risk. These controls are monitored 
throughout the group and all employees are required to maintain the highest ethical standards in ensuring the group’s 
business is conducted in a manner that in all reasonable circumstances is above reproach.

The focus of risk management in the group is on identifying, assessing, managing and monitoring all known forms of risk across 
the group. While operating risk cannot be fully eliminated, the group endeavours to minimise it by ensuring that appropriate 
infrastructure, controls, systems and ethical behaviour are applied and managed within predetermined procedures
and constraints.

The directors are of the opinion, based on the information and explanations given by management and the external auditors,
that the system of internal control provides reasonable assurance that the financial records may be relied on for the 
preparation of the annual financial statements. However, any system of internal financial control can provide only reasonable, 
and not absolute, assurance against material misstatement or loss. The going-concern basis has been adopted in preparing 
the financial statements. Based on forecasts and available cash resources the directors have no reason to believe that the 
group will not be a going concern in the foreseeable future. The annual financial statements support the viability of the group.

The annual financial statements have been audited by the independent auditing firm, Nexia SAB&T, who have been given 
unrestricted access to all financial records and related data, including minutes of all meetings of the shareholders the board of
directors and committees of the board. The directors believe that all representations made to the independent auditor during
the audit were valid and appropriate. The external auditors’ unmodified audit report is presented on pages 1 to 5.

The annual financial statements as set out on pages 13 to 74 were approved by the board on 31 July 2020 and were signed on
their behalf by:

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES AND 
APPROVAL

IG MORRIS
Chief Executive Officer

DA DI SIENA
Chairperson
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The Audit Committee is pleased to present its report for the financial year ended 31 March 2020 to the board of directors and
to all group stakeholders.

This report is in compliance with the requirements of the Companies Act of South Africa, No. 71 of 2008 and the King Code of
Governance for South Africa.

COMMITTEE COMPOSITION AND ATTENDANCE AT MEETINGS

The committee comprised of three independent non-executive directors and the Chairman of the committee was not the 
Chairman of the board for the 2020 financial year.

THE FOLLOWING DIRECTORS SERVED ON THE COMMITTEE DURING THE YEAR UNDER REVIEW:

The executive directors and representatives from the independent external auditor, Nexia SAB&T, are invited to attend all 
Audit Committee meetings. The Internal Audit Department of Sebata Holdings is represented at all Audit Committee meetings.
For the year under review, this department was represented by MD Ntsandeni, the Group Internal Audit Manager.

AUDIT COMMITTEE REPORT

MEMBERS 27/06/2019 13/09/2019 14/11/2019 17/03/2019
 S Nodwele  -  Yes  Yes  Yes 
 RC Lewin  Yes  Yes  Yes  Yes 
 D Passmore  Yes  Yes  Yes  Yes 
 DA Di Siena  Yes  Invitee  Invitee  Invitee

INVITEES
 IG Morris  Yes  Yes  Yes  Yes 
 PW van Eeden  Yes  Yes  Yes  Yes 
 PH Duvenhage  Yes  Yes  Yes  Yes 
 TW Hamill  Yes  Yes  No  No 
 CA King  Yes  Yes  Yes  Yes 
 M Ntsandeni  Yes  Yes  Yes  No 
 Nexia SAB&T  Yes  Yes  Yes  Yes 
 RB Smith  Yes  Yes  Yes  Yes 

The Audit Committee is required to meet at least twice a year. During the 2020 financial year, the Committee met four times 
and attendance thereat is set out below.

S NODWELE 
(Chairperson)

RC LEWIN 
(Interim Chairperson 
for meeting held on 
27/06/2019)

D PASSMORE DA DI SIENA 
(Only for meeting held 
on 27/06/2019)
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AUDIT COMMITTEE MANDATE
In accordance with the Audit Committee’s approved terms of reference, the Committee discharged, inter alia, the following
responsibilities during the 2020 financial period:

• Reviewed the interim results, annual financial statements, trading updates, SENS announcements and other similar 
documents, and provided comments thereon to the Board of Directors.

• Made submissions to the Board on matters concerning Sebata’s’s accounting policies, financial controls and reporting.
• Generally reviewed the Group’s financial risk management and controls and held discussions with the independent 

external auditor Nexia SAB&T
• Satisfied itself with the appropriateness of the expertise and adequacy of resources of the finance function
• Monitored the Group’s combined assurance model and ensured that significant risks facing the group were adequately 

addressed and passed on to the Risk Committee where applicable.
• Ensured that Nexia SAB&T maintained its independence and objectivity at all times.
• Assessed the quality and effectiveness of the audit process and approved the fees paid to the independent external 

auditor for the 2020 financial period.
• Reviewed the Directors report to be included in the financial statements prior to endorsement by the Board of Directors.
• Evaluated significant judgements and reporting decisions in the annual integrated report and the clarity and completeness 

of the proposed financial and sustainability disclosures.

At the request of the Board, the Committee considers whether the annual report is fair, balanced, understandable and whether
it provides the information necessary for shareholders to assess the group’s performance, business model and strategy. 
The Committee reports to the board on its activities, identifying any matters in respect of which it considers that action or 
improvement is needed and making recommendations as to the steps to be taken thereupon.

EXTERNAL AUDITORS
Input from the independent external auditors at Audit Committee meetings provides Committee members with greater insight
into the financial management of the group. The Audit Committee is therefore satisfied that the financial statements of 
the Group comply with International Financial Reporting Standards and are consistent with the previous annual financial 
statements and that no matters of significance have been raised during the 2020 financial year.

The group has a formal policy on the provision of non-audit services by the independent external auditor which specifies those
services that the auditor is prohibited from providing to the Sebata Group as well as those that require pre-approval by the 
Audit Committee.

During the year under review, Nexia SAB&T did not provide any non-audit services to Sebata. The Audit Committee duly 
satisfied itself that, in accordance with section 94 (8) of the Companies Act, Nexia SAB&T, the external auditors of the group  
remain independent. Nexia SAB&T has confirmed to the committee its continuing independence and compliance with the 
Sebata policy on auditor independence.

FINANCE FUNCTION
The Audit Committee has considered the appropriateness of the expertise and experience of the group Financial Director 
Pierre Van Eeden, together with Sebata’s finance team, and is satisfied that Pierre Van Eeden and the finance team have the 
necessary knowledge, skills and expertise to perform the finance function for the group.

INTERNAL AUDIT
Sebata’s internal audit department provides the Group with an independent and objective assurance function and continues 
to operate in accordance with the internal audit charter and internal audit plan approved by the board of directors. The internal
audit department reports directly to the Audit Committee and has unrestricted access to the Chairman of the Audit Committee.

The Group Internal Audit Manager provides the Audit Committee with updates as to the progress made by the department 
and brings any significant risks or issues to the attention of the Audit Committee at every Audit Committee meeting or when
required.

AUDIT COMMITTEE REPORT
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The board of directors is responsible for the internal financial controls and systems in use throughout the group and the 
internal audit department has assisted the board of directors in evaluating the effectiveness of those internal controls. The 
identification of possible risks and the implementation of adequate internal financial controls are delegated to the Managing
Directors of each subsidiary, while the board of directors has the ultimate authority and responsibility for ensuring that systems
of internal financial controls are effectively implemented and monitored. The Audit Committee is satisfied that during the 2020
financial period Sebata maintained adequate systems of internal control over the financial reporting of the Group and has 
ensured that Group assets were adequately safeguarded, and nothing has come to the attention of the committee members 
that indicate a material breakdown in the functioning of the Group’s internal control systems.

WHISTLE BLOWING POLICY
Sebata implemented a whistle blowing policy in order to demonstrate its commitment to working towards a culture of fairness, 
openness and transparency. In conjunction with the whistle blowing policy, the Sebata Holdings Ethics Hotline, which is 
independently operated by Vuvuzela, provides employees and clients with a mechanism to anonymously bring any unethical 
business practices to the attention of management. Communication in respect of this hotline is regularly circulated to all Group
employees, and constant reminders are sent out via the monthly Group newsletter.

All reports received from the Ethics Hotline are forwarded to the designated representatives at Sebata and to the Audit 
Committee for review, and consideration is made as to whether the action taken by the designated representative was 
appropriate or whether further action is required.

GENERAL
The Audit Committee reviews the going concern status of the group by considering the documentation prepared by 
management and the assurance provided by the financial director at each meeting, and therefore supports the going concern 
statement by the board of directors.

Sebata’s combined assurance model aims to optimise the assurance coverage obtained on the risks affecting the group. Within
the Group there is interplay between a number of key assurance providers which includes both the Audit and Risk Committee 
as well as both the Internal and External audit function. This is supported by the assurance provided on an operational and 
structural level by both the executive management and the management at an individual subsidiary level.

The management team of each subsidiary in the Group identifies and addresses the risks on the day-to-day operations of that
particular business. Monthly management meetings are held with the Group executives where these issues are discussed. The
internal audit department examines, evaluates and reports on the activities and appropriateness of the systems of internal 
control, risk management and governance processes, while the external auditor performs the annual audit in accordance with
international auditing standards and reports in detail on the results of the audit to the subsidiary management, the Audit 
Committee and the board of directors. Lastly, the Risk Committee is responsible for monitoring the appropriateness of the 
combined assurance model.

The Audit Committee are satisfied that the current combined assurance model utilised by the group ensures that significant
risks facing the group are adequately addressed.

In accordance with the principles of King IV, the Audit Committee fulfilled its oversight role in respect of Sebata’s annual 
integrated report and the reporting process and considered and assessed the information disclosed in the integrated report
against the financial, operational, governance and other information known to the Committee and is satisfied that the 
information is reliable and consistent with the financial results.

AUDIT COMMITTEE REPORT

S NODWELE
Chairperson
Audit Committee
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1. REPORTING ENTITY AND REVIEW OF ACTIVITIES
Sebata Holdings Limited is a group domiciled in the Republic of South Africa. The address of the group’s registered office is 66
Park Lane, Sandton. The annual consolidated financial statements of the group as at and for the year ended 31 March 2020, 
comprise the group and its subsidiaries (together referred to as the “group” and individually as “group entities”) and the 
group’s interest in associates.

Sebata is a holding company with equity interests in a number of operating entities and is listed on the main board of the 
South African Johannesburg Stock Exchange (JSE) under the computer services sector. Our businesses are primarily focused 
on the provision of information technology.

The operating results and consolidated statement of financial position of the group are fully set out in the attached annual 
consolidated financial statements and do not in our opinion require any further comment.

2. GOING CONCERN
The annual consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the basis of accounting policies applicable to a going 
concern. This basis presumes that funds will be available to finance future operations and that the realisation of assets and 
settlement of liabilities, contingent obligations and commitments will occur in the ordinary course of business.

3. EVENTS AFTER REPORTING DATE
In terms of IAS 10 Events after the reporting period, non-adjusting post balance sheet events are events after the reporting 
period that are indicative of a condition that arose after the reporting period ended 31 March 2020.

On 15 May 2020, the group announced that it had entered into an agreement to dispose of its 73.20% interest in Turrito 
Networks Proprietary Limited (“Turrito”) and Nerdworks Proprietary Limited (“Nerdworks”) for a consideration of R24,1 million. 
While the Board had not actively been looking for a buyer, it was approached by the Purchaser, and the Management Sellers 
(as defined in the announcement), with the offer to purchase the respective shareholding in Nerdworks and Turrito. The Board 
believes that the transaction unlocks value in the assets which do not fit into the current portfolio of investments and believes 
that the Management Sellers and the Purchaser are best placed to take over the assets.

On 15 July 2020 shareholders voted to approve the sale of 60% of the Software Group comprising Sebata Municipal Solutions, 
R-data and Micromega Accounting and Professional Services to Inzalo Capital Holdings.

As disclosed in note 43, It was concluded that the declaration of COVID-19 as a pandemic is such a non-adjusting event. The 
impact of COVID-19 on accounting standards that require the use of forward-looking information (expected credit losses and 
goodwill impairment) was assessed based on information available.

At the date of this report its direct and indirect effects are subject to significant levels of uncertainty. The impact of COVID-19 is 
expected to be felt on the group’s trade debtors’ book and short-term liquidity. It is already clear that the continued economic 
downturn will result in a significant contraction in Government spend and will have a direct impact on our ability to generate 
revenue.

It is anticipated that the COVID-19 pandemic may have a substantial impact on revenue. It is, however, not possible to make 
an accurate estimate of its full financial effect for the year ahead as the virus’s infection rate and impact on macro-economic 
conditions remains uncertain.

The directors are not aware of any other matter or circumstance arising since the end of the financial year to the date of this 
report that could have a material effect on the financial position of the group.

DIRECTORS’ REPORT

THE DIRECTORS PRESENT THEIR REPORT FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2020.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT

4. DIRECTORS’ INTEREST IN CONTRACTS
To our knowledge none of the directors had any interest in contracts entered into during the year under review.

5. AUTHORISED AND ISSUED SHARE CAPITAL
No changes were approved or made to the authorised or issued share capital of the group during the year under review.

6. BORROWING LIMITATIONS
In terms of the Memorandum of Incorporation of the group, the directors may exercise all the powers of the group to borrow 
money, as they consider appropriate.

7. DIVIDENDS
No dividends were declared or paid to shareholders during the year.

8. DIRECTORS
The directors of the group during the year and to the date of this report are as follows:
IG Morris
DA Di Siena
RC Lewin
PH Duvenhage
TW Hamill
D Passmore
C King
PW van Eeden
K Moses (Appointed 12 September 2019)
S Nodwele (Appointed 29 July 2019)

9. SECRETARY
RB Smith

10. INDEPENDENT AUDITORS
Nexia SAB&T were the independent auditors for the year under review.
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

Figures in R’000 Notes 2020 2019

ASSETS
NON-CURRENT ASSETS
Property, plant and equipment 6 18 586 29 829
Intangible assets 7 54 222 626 831
Investments in associates 8 588 157 19 702
Other financial assets 9 802 025 -
Deferred tax assets 19 5 196 13 641

1 468 186 690 003

CURRENT ASSETS                                        
Inventories 10 5 256 74 288
Current tax 20 3 718 6 681
Other financial assets 9 185 818 79 854
Trade and other receivables 11 38 598 225 889
Cash and cash equivalents 12 14 734 41 672

248 124 428 384

TOTAL ASSETS 1 716 310 1 118 387

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
EQUITY
Issued capital 13 285 063 280 372
Other reserves 14 7 434 8 653
Retained earnings 971 611 455 992
Non-controlling interest 16 3 692 45 424

1 267 800 790 441

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES                                
Other financial liabilities 17 3 389 881
Deferred tax liabilities 19 270 240 94 675

273 629 95 556

CURRENT LIABILITIES                                   
Trade and other payables 20 43 960 116 863
Current tax 21 50 883 79 756
Other financial liabilities 17 72 161 5 752
Deferred vendor payments 18 7 014 7 473
Bank overdraft 12 863 22 546

174 881 232 390

TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 1 716 310 1 118 387

AS AT 31 MARCH 2020
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STATEMENT OF PROFIT AND LOSS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2020

Figures in R’000 Notes 2020
 Restated 

2019

REVENUE 23 161 410 151 655
Cost of sales (86 265) (72 307)
GROSS PROFIT 75 145 79 348

Other net income/(expenses) 24 952 306 060
Administration expenses 25 (226 258) (104 920)
Distribution expenses 25 (375) (577)
OPERATING (LOSS) PROFIT (150 536) 279 911

Finance income 26 15 154 5 603
Finance costs 27 (16 092) (5 030)
Share of (loss) / profit from investments accounted for using the equity 
method 8 (2 098) 1 896

(LOSS) / PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION (153 572) 282 380

Tax expense 28 30 728 (103 454)
(LOSS) / PROFIT FROM CONTINUING OPERATIONS (122 844) 178 926

Profit / (loss) from discontinuing operations 29 633 751 (20 778)
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR 510 907 158 148

PROFIT FOR THE YEAR ATTRIBUTABLE TO:
Owners of the parent - continuing operations (125 254) 177 523
Owners of the parent - discontinued operations 632 388 (26 290)
Non-controlling interest - continuing operations 2 410 1 403
Non-controlling interest - discontinued operations 1 363 5 512

510 907 158 148
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STATEMENT OF OTHER COMPREHENSIVE 
INCOME

Figures in R’000 Notes 2020
 Restated 

2019

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
ITEMS THAT WILL BE RECLASSIFIED INTO PROFIT OR LOSS
Foreign currency translation differences 14 803 (35)
Disposal of subsidiaries 36 - 2 785
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE YEAR 511 710 160 898

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME ATTRIBUTABLE TO:
Non-controlling interests 3 773 6 915
Owners of the parent 507 937 153 983

511 710 160 898

EARNINGS PER SHARE (CENTS) 31
BASIC 448,27 131,93
Continuing operations (110,72) 154,87
Discontinued operations 558,99 (22,93)
DILUTED BASIC 448,03 131,82
Continuing operations (110,66) 154,74
Discontinued operations 558,69 (22,92)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2020
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

Figures in R’000 Note(s)
 Share 
capital 

 Share 
premium 

 Other 
reserves 

 Share 
based 

payment 
reserve 

Retained
earnings  Total 

 Non-
controlling 

interest  Total 
BALANCE AT 1 APRIL 2018 1 146 294 791 700 6 414 647 739 950 790 98 339 1 049 129
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE YEAR
Profit for the year - - - - 151 233 151 233 6 915 158 148
Foreign currency translation differences - - (35) - - (35) - (35)
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE YEAR - - (35) - 151 233 151 198 6 915 158 113

TRANSACTIONS WITH OWNERS RECORDED 
DIRECTLY IN EQUITY
Dividends paid - - - - (343 792) (343 792) (2 755) (346 547)
Treasury shares purchased 13 (23) (15 771) - - - (15 794) - (15 794)
Share-based payment transactions 15 - 229 - (1 211) 812 (170) - (170)
Disposal of Subsidiary 36 - - 2 785 - - 2 785 (57 075) (54 290)

(23) (15 542) 2 785 (1 211) (342 980) (356 971) (59 830) (416 801)

BALANCE AT 1 APRIL 2019 1 123 279 249 3 450 5 203 455 992 745 017 45 424 790 441

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2020
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

Figures in R’000 Note(s)
 Share 
capital 

 Share 
premium 

 Other 
reserves 

 Share 
based 

payment 
reserve 

Retained
earnings  Total 

 Non-
controlling 

interest  Total 
BALANCE AT 1 APRIL 2019 1 123 279 249 3 450 5 203 455 992 745 017 45 424 790 441
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE YEAR
Profit for the year - - - - 507,134 507,134 3,773 510,907
Foreign currency translation differences 14 - - 803 - - 803 - 803
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE YEAR - - 803 - 507 134 507 937 3 773 511 710

TRANSACTIONS WITH OWNERS RECORDED 
DIRECTLY IN EQUITY
Dividends paid - - - - - - (1 440) (1 440)
Share-based payment transactions 15 - - - (2 022) 7 104 5 082 - 5 082
Changes in ownership interest in subsidiaries without a 
change in control - - - - 1 381 1 381 (21 381) (20 000)

Disposal of subsidiaries 36 - - - - - - (22 684) (22 684)
Treasury shares sold 13 8 4 683 - - - 4 691 - 4 691
BALANCE AT 31 MARCH 2020 1 131 283 932 4 253 3 181 971 611 1 264 108 3 692 1 267 800

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2020
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STATEMENT OF CASH FLOW

Figures in R’000 Notes 2020 2019

CASH FLOW FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Cash generated from operations 32 83 714 (2 567)
Finance income 3 151 5 583
Finance costs (11 347) (6 025)
Income tax paid 21 (46 628) (20 941)
NET CASH FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES 28 890 (23 950)

CASH FLOW FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Property, plant and equipment acquired 33 (7 728) (9 979)
Intangible assets acquired 7 (61 004) (86 681)
Investment in associates (5 864) -
Proceeds on disposal of property, plant and equipment 173 2 863
Cash (forfeited)/received on disposal of subsidiaries and businesses 36 41,110  596,191
Financial assets advanced (1 748) -
Financial assets repaid 1 130 16 237

(33 931) 518 631

CASH FLOW FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Treasury shares issued/(repurchased) 4 691 (15 794)
Acquisition of non-controlling interest without a change in control (20 000) -
Other financial liabilities raised 34 71 885 -
Other financial liabilities repaid 34 (54 891) (31 147)
Deferred vendor payments repaid (459) (2 959)
Dividends paid to non-controlling interest (1 440) (2 755)
Dividends paid - (343 792)

(214) (396 447)

(Decrease) / increase in cash and cash equivalents (5 255) 98 234
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year 19 126 (79 108)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE END OF THE YEAR  12 13 871 19 126

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2020
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1. STATEMENT OF COMPLIANCE
The annual consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with all applicable International Financial 
Reporting Standards (IFRS) as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) and Interpretations as issued 
by the IFRS Interpretations Committee (IFRIC), and Financial Reporting Pronouncements as issued by the Financial Reporting 
Standards Council (FRSC), the Johannesburg Stock Exchange (JSE) Limited Listings Requirements and the requirements of the 
Companies Act, No. 71 of 2008, of South Africa (the Companies Act).

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION
The annual consolidated financial statements are presented in South African Rand, which is the group’s functional currency. 
All financial information presented in South African Rand had been rounded to the nearest thousand, except when otherwise 
indicated.

The annual consolidated financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention, except for the 
measurement of certain financial instruments at fair value. 

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates. It 
also requires management to exercise its judgement in the process of applying the group’s accounting policies. The areas  
involving a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to the annual 
consolidated financial statements are disclosed in note 4.

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these annual consolidated financial statements are set out 
below. These policies have been consistently applied apart from the changes to the accounting policies in Note 5. These 
accounting policies have been applied consistently by all Group entities.

3.1 BUSINESS COMBINATIONS
Subsidiaries are all entities over which the group has control. The group controls an entity when the group is exposed to, or  as
rights to, variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those returns through its power 
over the entity. Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the group. They are 
deconsolidated from the date that control ceases.

The Group applies the acquisition method to account for business combinations. The consideration transferred for the 
acquisition of a subsidiary is the fair values of the assets transferred, the liabilities incurred to the former owners of the 
acquiree and the equity interests issued by the Group. The consideration transferred includes the fair value of any asset or 
liability resulting from a contingent consideration arrangement. Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent 
liabilities assumed in a business combination are measured initially at their fair values at the acquisition date. Subsequent 
changes to the fair value of contingent considerations that relate to deferred vendor payments are recognised in profit or loss.

The group recognises any non-controlling interest in the acquiree on an acquisition-by-acquisition basis, at the non-controlling 
interest’s proportionate share of the recognised amounts of acquiree’s identifiable net assets.

The excess of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interest in the acquiree and the acquisition 
date fair value of any previous equity interest in the acquiree over the fair value of the identifiable net assets acquired is 
recorded as goodwill. If the total of consideration transferred, non-controlling interest recognised and previously held interest 
measured is less than the fair value of the net assets of the subsidiary acquired in the case of a bargain purchase, the difference 
is recognised directly in the statement of comprehensive income.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the group is recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. Subsequent 
changes to the fair value of the contingent consideration that is deemed to be an asset or liability is recognised in accordance 
with IFRS 9 either in profit or loss.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES

CHANGES IN OWNERSHIP INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES WITHOUT CHANGE OF CONTROL
Transactions with non-controlling interests that do not result in loss of control are accounted for as equity transactions – that 
is, as transactions with the owners in their capacity as owners.

The difference between fair value of any consideration paid/received and the relevant share acquired/disposed of the carrying 
value of net assets of the subsidiary is recorded in equity. Gains or losses on disposals to non-controlling interests are also 
recorded in equity.

DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES
When the group ceases to have control, any retained interest in the entity is re-measured to its fair value at the date when 
control is lost, with the change in carrying amount recognised in profit or loss. The fair value is the initial carrying amount for 
the purposes of subsequently accounting for the retained interest as an associate, joint venture or financial asset. In addition, 
any amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income in respect of that entity are accounted for as if the 
group had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities. This may mean that amounts previously recognised in other 
comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or loss.

ASSOCIATES
Associates are all entities over which the group has significant influence but not control, generally accompanying a shareholding 
of between 20% and 50% of the voting rights. Investments in associates are accounted for using the equity method of 
accounting.

Under the equity method, the investment is initially recognised at cost, and the carrying amount is increased or decreased to 
recognise the investor’s share of the profit or loss of the investee after the date of acquisition.

The group’s investment in associates includes goodwill identified on acquisition.

If the ownership interest in an associate is reduced but significant influence is retained, only a proportionate share of the 
amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income is reclassified to profit or loss where appropriate.

The group’s share of post-acquisition profit or loss is recognised in the statement of profit and loss, and its share of  post-
acquisition movements in other comprehensive income is recognised in other comprehensive income with a corresponding 
adjustment to the carrying amount of the investment. When the group’s share of losses in an associate equals or exceeds its 
interest in the associate, including any other unsecured receivables, the group does not recognise further losses, unless it has 
incurred legal or constructive obligations or made payments on behalf of the associate.

The group determines at each reporting date whether there is any objective evidence that the investment in the associate is 
impaired. If this is the case, the group calculates the amount of impairment as the difference between the recoverable amount 
of the associate and its carrying value and recognises the amount adjacent to share of profit / (loss) of associates in the 
statement of comprehensive income.

Profit and losses resulting from upstream and downstream transactions between the group and its associate are recognised 
in the group’s financial statements only to the extent of unrelated investor’s interests in the associates. Unrealised losses are 
eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred.

TRANSACTIONS ELIMINATED ON CONSOLIDATION
Intergroup balances and transactions, and any unrealised income and expenses arising from intergroup transactions, are 
eliminated in preparing the annual consolidated financial statements.

3.2 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Property, plant and equipment is stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment. Cost includes expenditure that 
is directly attributable to the acquisition of the items.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when 
it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the group and the cost of the item can be 
measured reliably. All repairs and maintenance are charged to the statement of profit and loss during the financial period in 
which they are incurred.

Depreciation methods, residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of each reporting 
period. Useful lives are affected by technology innovations, maintenance programs and future economic benefits. Residual 
value assessments consider issues such as future market conditions, the remaining life of the asset and projected disposal 
values. Consideration is also given to the extent of current profits and losses on the disposal of similar assets.

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing the proceeds with the carrying amount and are recognised within 
‘Other income’ in the statement of profit and loss.

Depreciation is provided on the straight-line basis which, will reduce the carrying amount of the property, plant and equipment 
to their residual values at the end of their useful lives. Depreciation is recognised in profit or loss. Leased assets are depreciated 
over the shorter of the lease term and their useful lives unless it is reasonably certain that the group will obtain ownership by 
the end of the lease term. Items of property, plant and equipment are depreciated from the date that they are installed and 
available for use.

The major categories of property, plant and equipment are depreciated at the following rates:

3.3 INTANGIBLE ASSETS

3.3.1 GOODWILL
Goodwill that arises upon the acquisition of subsidiaries is included in intangible assets. Goodwill is recognised as the excess  
of the purchase price over the fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities assumed in a business combination.

Goodwill is allocated to each of the cash-generating units, or groups of cash-generating units that are expected to benefit  
from the synergies of the business combination.

Goodwill is measured at cost less accumulated impairment losses.

3.3.2 COMPUTER SOFTWARE INTERNALLY GENERATED AND COMPUTER SOFTWARE UNDER DEVELOPMENT
Expenditure of research activities, undertaken with the prospect of gaining new scientific or technical knowledge and 
understanding, is recognised in profit or loss as incurred.

Development activities involve a plan or design for the production of new or sustainable improved products and processes. 
Development expenditure is capitalised only if development costs can be, measured reliably, the product or process is 
technically commercially feasible, future economic benefits are probable, and the group intends to and has sufficient resources 
to complete development and to use or sell the asset. The expenditure capitalised includes the cost of materials, direct labour, 
overhead costs that are directly attributable to preparing the assets for its intended use, and capitalised borrowing costs.  
Other development expenditure is recognised in profit or loss as incurred.

Plant and equipment 5 – 15 years
Motor vehicles 4 – 5 years
Furniture and fittings 5 – 10 years
Office equipment 5 – 10 years
IT equipment 2 – 5 years
Leasehold improvements Over the period of the lease
Right of Use Assets Over the period of the lease
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Amortisation methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed at each reporting date and adjusted if appropriate.

An intangible asset is regarded as having an indefinite useful life when, based on all relevant factors, there is no foreseeable 
limit to the period over which the asset is expected to generate net cash inflows. Amortisation is not provided for these 
intangible assets but they are tested for impairment annually or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate 
that the carrying value may be impaired, and it is subsequently carried at cost less accumulated impairment losses.

3.4 IMPAIRMENT OF NON-FINANCIAL ASSETS
The carrying amount of the group’s non-financial assets, other than inventories and deferred tax assets, are reviewed at 
each reporting date to determine whether there is any indication of impairment. If any such indication exists then the asset’s 
recoverable amount is estimated. For goodwill and intangible assets that have indefinite lives or that are not yet available for 
use, the recoverable amount is estimated at each reporting date.

For the purpose of impairment testing, assets are first assessed individually and then if the asset does not generate cash flows 
individually, the asset is grouped together into the smallest group of assets that generates cash inflows from continuing use 
that are largely independent of cash inflows of other assets (the “cash-generating unit”). The goodwill acquired in a business 
combination, for the purpose of impairment testing, is allocated to cash-generating units that are expected to benefit from 
the synergies of the combination.

The recoverable amount of an asset or cash-generating unit is the greater of its value in use and its fair value less cost to sell. 
In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate 
that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset.

An impairment loss is recognised if the carrying amount of an asset or its cash-generating unit exceeds its recoverable 
amount. Impairment losses recognised in respect of cash-generating units are allocated first to reduce the carrying amount 
of any goodwill allocated to the units and then to reduce the carrying amount of the other assets in the group on a pro rata 
basis. Impairment losses are recognised in profit or loss.

Capitalised development expenditure is allocated to computer software under development until such time that the products 
and processed are ready for use. The relevant items are then transferred from the computer software under development 
category to the computer software internally generated category within intangible assets.

Capitalised development expenditure is measured at cost less accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment losses.

3.3.3 PATENTS, TRADEMARKS, BRANDNAMES, LICENSES AND INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY
Separately acquired licences are shown at historical cost. Licences acquired in a business combination are recognised at 
fair value at the acquisition date. Licences have a finite useful life and are carried at cost less accumulated amortisation.
Amortisation is calculated using the straight-line method to allocate the cost of trademarks and licences over their estimated 
useful lives.

Acquired computer software licences are capitalised on the basis of the costs incurred to acquire and bring to use the specific 
software. These costs are amortised over their estimated useful lives.

3.3.4 AMORTISATION
The estimated useful lives for the current and comparative years are as follows:

ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Computer software purchased and internally generated 3 - 15 years
Licences, franchises and customer relationships 2 - 4 years
Patents, trademarks and other rights 10 years
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES

An impairment loss in respect of goodwill is not reversed. In respect of other assets, impairment losses recognised in prior 
periods are assessed at each reporting date for any indications that the loss has decreased or no longer exists. An impairment 
loss is reversed if there has been a change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount. An impairment loss 
is reversed only to the extent that the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been 
determined, net of depreciation or amortisation, if no impairment loss had been recognised.

3.5 NON-CURRENT ASSETS (OR DISPOSAL GROUPS) HELD FOR SALE AND DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS
Non-current assets (or disposal groups) are classified as assets held for sale when the following criteria has been met, their 
carrying amount is to be recovered principally through a sale transaction and a sale is considered highly probable and the 
asset or disposal group is available for sale in its present condition . They are stated at the lower of carrying amount and fair  
value less costs to sell.

A discontinued operation is a component of the entity that has been disposed of or is classified as held for sale and that 
represents a separate major line of business or geographical area of operations, is part of a single coordinated plan to dispose 
of such a line of business or area of operations, or is a subsidiary acquired exclusively with a view to resale. The results of 
discontinued operations are presented separately in the statement of profit or loss.

3.6 INVENTORIES
Inventories are initially measured at cost and subsequently at the lower of cost and net realisable value. The cost of inventories 
comprises all costs of purchase, costs of conversion and other costs incurred in bringing the inventories to their present 
location and condition and is assigned by using the weighted average cost formula. In the case of manufactured inventories  
and work in progress, cost includes an appropriate share of production overheads based on normal operating capacity. Net 
realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business less the estimated costs of completion and the 
estimated costs necessary to make the sale.

When inventories are sold, the carrying amount of those inventories is recognised as an expense in the period in which the 
related revenue is recognised. The amount of any write-down of inventories to net realisable value and all losses of inventories 
are recognised as an expense in the period when the write-down or loss occurs.

Where necessary, provision is made for obsolete, slow-moving and defective inventories.

3.7 FINANCIAL ASSETS
Financial assets comprise trade and other receivables (excluding prepayments and VAT); cash and cash equivalents and other 
financial assets.

RECOGNITION
Financial assets are recognised in the group’s statement of financial position when the group becomes a party to the contractual 
provisions of the instruments. Financial assets are classified as current if expected to be realised or settled within 12 months 
from the reporting date; if not, they are classified as non- current.

CLASSIFICATION
The group classifies financial assets on initial recognition as measured at amortised cost as the group’s business model and 
objective is to hold the financial asset in order to collect the contractual cash flow and the contractual terms allows for cash 
flows on specified dates for the payment of the principal amounts outstanding.

IMPAIRMENT OF FINANCIAL ASSETS

ASSETS CARRIED AT AMORTISED COST
Under IFRS 9 the group calculates its allowance for credit losses as expected credit losses (ECLs) for financial assets measured 
at amortised cost. ECLs are a probability weighted estimate of credit losses. To calculate ECLs the group segments/groups 
trade receivables by customer type and ageing. The group applies the simplified approach to determine the ECL for trade 
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receivables. This results in calculating lifetime expected credit losses for trade receivables. ECLs for trade receivables are 
calculated using a provision matrix. The provision matrix is determined by using reference to the credit quality of the assets, 
the customers ability to pay, historical default rates and credit losses incurred along with reference to forward looking 
information such as macroeconomic factors and future forecasts. The group has defined a default as a significant deviation to 
the contractual payment terms and accepted historical payment rates from customers which has impacted on the ability of the 
customers ability to settle current and future debt. If there have been significant defaults from a specific customer and these 
have given rise to indications that the customer has a decreased ability to settle the debt when due these expected credit 
losses are provided for in full and not with reference to the provision matrix. The Group has rebutted the presumption that 
this occurs once contractual payments extend past 30 days, this is due to the segment in which the Group operates in which 
it is common practice for payment terms to extend past 30 days.

ECLs for other financial assets are assessed on an individual basis based on a credit risk assessment of the borrower, this credit
risk comprises historical defaults by the borrower, the borrowers ability to repay the debt and security that is in place over the
debt. ECLs on other assets are only raised once information has been identified that suggests that the borrower may not 
be able to repay the debt. Management uses both current and forward looking information in assessing these ECL’s, future 
forecasts the borrowers ability to meet these forecasts and macroeconomic information are taken into account in assessing 
this information.

DERECOGNITION
Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows from the assets have expired or have been transferred
and the group has transferred substantially all risks and rewards of ownership. On derecognition of a financial asset, any 
difference between the carrying amount extinguished and the consideration paid is recognised in profit or loss.

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES
Financial liabilities comprise trade and other payables (excluding indirect taxation payable), other financial liabilities and bank
overdrafts.

RECOGNITION
Financial liabilities are recognised in the group’s statement of financial position when the group becomes a party to the 
contractual provisions of the instruments. Financial liabilities are classified as non-current if the group has an unconditional 
right to defer payment for more than 12 months from the reporting date otherwise they are classified as current.

CLASSIFICATION
All financial liabilities are classified at amortised cost except for deferred vendor payments that are measured at fair value 
through profit and loss.

3.8 SHARE CAPITAL

ORDINARY SHARES
Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of ordinary shares are recognised as
a deduction from equity, net of any tax effects.

3.9 LEASES

THE COMPANY AS A LESSEE (IFRS16 - 2020)
For any new contracts entered into on or after 1 April 2019, the Group considers whether a contract is, or contains a lease. A 
lease is defined as ‘a contract, or part of a contract, that conveys the right to use an asset (the underlying asset) for a period 
of time in exchange for consideration’. To apply this definition the Group assesses whether the contract meets three key 
evaluations which are whether:

ACCOUNTING POLICIES
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• the contract contains an identified asset, which is either explicitly identified in the contract or implicitly specified by being 
identified at the time the asset is made available to the Group.

• the Group has the right to obtain substantially all of the economic benefits from use of the identified asset throughout 
the period of use, considering its rights within the defined scope of the contract

• the Group has the right to direct the use of the identified asset throughout the period of use. The Group assess whether 
it has the right to direct ‘how and for what purpose’ the asset is used throughout the period of use

MEASUREMENT AND RECOGNITION OF LEASES AS A LESSEE
At lease commencement date, the group recognises a right-of-use asset and a lease liability on the statement of financial 
position. The right-of-use asset is measured at cost, which is made up of the initial measurement of the lease liability, any  
initial direct costs incurred by the group, and any lease payments made in advance of the lease commencement date. The 
group depreciates the right-of-use assets on a straight-line basis from the lease commencement date to the earlier of the 
end of the useful life of the right-of-use asset or the end of the lease term. The group also assesses the right-of-use asset for 
impairment when such indicators exist. At the commencement date, the group measures the lease liability at the present value 
of the lease payments unpaid at that date, discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease if that rate is readily available 
or the group’s incremental borrowing rate. In determining the present value of the lease liability the group has used its 
incremental borrowing rate of prime as the rate implicit in the lease was not readily available. Lease payments included in the
measurement of the lease liability are made up of fixed payments (including in substance fixed), variable payments based 
on an index or rate, amounts expected to be payable under a residual value guarantee and payments arising from options 
reasonably certain to be exercised.

Subsequent to initial measurement, the liability will be reduced for payments made and increased for interest. It is remeasured 
to reflect any reassessment or modification, or if there are changes in in-substance fixed payments. When the lease liability is 
remeasured, the corresponding adjustment is reflected in the right-of-use asset, or profit and loss if the right-of-use asset is 
already reduced to zero.

The group has elected to account for short-term leases and leases of low-value assets using the practical expedients. Instead  
of recognising a right-of-use asset and lease liability, the payments in relation to these are recognised as an expense in profit 
or loss on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

On the statement of financial position, right-of-use assets have been included in property, plant and equipment and lease 
liabilities have been included in other financial liabilities.

FINANCE LEASES - LESSEE (IAS17 - 2019)
Leases that transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the underlying asset to the Group are classified 
as finance leases. Assets acquired in terms of finance leases are capitalised at the lower of the fair value of the asset and the 
present value of the minimum lease payments at inception of the lease, and depreciated over the shorter of the estimated 
useful life of the asset or the lease term if there is no reasonable certainty that the Group will obtain ownership at the end of 
the lease term. The capital element of future obligations under these leases is included as a liability in the balance sheet. Lease 
payments are allocated using the effective interest method to determine the lease finance cost, which is recognised in profit 
or loss over the lease period, and the capital repayment, which reduces the liability to the lessor.

FINANCE LEASES - LESSOR (IAS17 - 2019)
The Group enters into finance lease arrangements with customers in respect of the sales of certain goods. The Group acts as 
the lessor in these arrangement with the customers. A finance lease asset is recognised when substantially all the risks and 
rewards of ownership have transferred to the customer and a sale of the good is recognised. The finance leases are capitalised 
at inception of the lease agreement at the lower of the fair value of the goods transferred or the present value of the future 
minimum lease payments. Each lease payment received from the customer is allocated between the finance lease asset and 
finance lease interest income. The finance lease interest income is recognised in profit or loss over the lease period to produce 
a constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance of the asset for each period.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES
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OPERATING LEASES (IAS17 - 2019)
Leases where the lessor retains the risks and rewards of ownership of the underlying asset are classified as operating leases. 
Payments made under operating leases are recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the period of the lease.

3.10 EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

3.10.1 DEFINED CONTRIBUTION PLANS
The group pays fixed contributions into independent entities in relation to several state plans and insurance for individual 
employees. The group has no legal or constructive obligations to pay contributions in addition to its fixed contributions, which 
are recognised as an expense in the period that relevant employee services are received.

3.10.2 TERMINATION BENEFITS
Termination benefits are recognised as an expense when the group is demonstrably committed, without realistic possibility 
of withdrawal, to a formal detailed plan to either terminate employment before the normal retirement date, or to provide 
termination benefits as a result of an offer made to encourage voluntary redundancy. Termination benefits for voluntary 
redundancies are recognised as an expense if the group has made an offer of voluntary redundancy, it is probable that the 
offer will be accepted, and the number of acceptances can be estimated reliably. If benefits are payable more than 12 months 
after the reporting date, then they are discounted to their present value.

3.10.3 SHORT-TERM EMPLOYEE BENEFITS
The cost of all short-term employee benefits is recognised during the period in which the employee renders the related service 
on an undiscounted basis.

Accruals for employee entitlement to annual leave represents the present obligation, which the group has to pay as a result 
of employees’ services, provided to the reporting date. The accruals have been calculated at undiscounted amounts based on 
current salary rates.

A liability is recognised for the amount expected to be paid under short term bonuses in the group as the group has a present 
legal constructive obligation to pay the amount as a result of past service provided by the employee, and the obligation can 
be estimated reliably.

3.10.4 SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS

EQUITY SETTLED
The grant date fair value of share-based payment options granted to employees is recognised as an employee expense, with a
corresponding increase in equity, over the period in which the employees become unconditionally entitled to the options. The
amount recognised as an expense is adjusted to reflect the number of share options for which the related service and 
nonmarket conditions are met, such that the amount ultimately recognised as an expense is based on the number of options 
that meet the related service and non-market performance conditions at the vesting date.

In the event of expiry of vested share options, the applicable amount held in the non-distributable reserve is transferred to 
retained earnings.

CASH SETTLED
The group has donated shares to the purchasers of subsidiaries, these donated shares are measured at fair value with reference 
to the purchase consideration received. These are expensed over the period to which the group has become obligated to 
donate these shares.

3.11 INCOME TAX
Income tax for the year includes current tax and deferred tax. Current tax and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss, 
except to the extent that the tax arises from a transaction or event which is recognised directly in equity in which case current
tax and deferred tax are also recognised directly equity.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES
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Current tax liabilities and assets are measured at the amount expected to be paid to or recovered from the taxation authorities, 
using the tax rates and tax laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the statement of financial position date.
Current tax is the amount of income taxes payable or recoverable in respect of the taxable profit or loss for a year, and any 
adjustments in respect of previous years.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities arise from deductible and taxable temporary differences respectively. Temporary differences 
are the differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and their tax bases. 
Deferred tax assets also arise from unused tax losses.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset if there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax liabilities and assets, and 
they relate to income taxes levied by the same tax authority on the same taxable entity, or on different tax entities, but they 
intend to settle current tax liabilities and assets on a net basis or their tax assets and liabilities will be realised simultaneously. 
A deferred tax asset is recognised to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against which 
temporary differences can be utilised. Deferred tax assets are reviewed at each reporting date and are reduced to the extent 
that it is no longer probable that the related tax benefit will be realised.

At each statement of financial position date, the group reviews and assesses the recognised and unrecognised deferred tax 
assets and the future taxable profit to determine whether any recognised deferred tax assets should be derecognised and any 
unrecognised deferred tax assets should be recognised.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the period when the asset is 
realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates and tax laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the 
statement of financial position date. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are not discounted.

Dividends withholding taxes that arise from the distribution of dividends are recognised when the distributions are made to 
shareholders that do not qualify for exemption in terms of the Income Tax Act.

3.12 REVENUE RECOGNITION

3.12.1 REVENUE CONTRACTS WITH CUSTOMERS
Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration specified in a contract with a customer and excludes amounts 
collected on behalf of third parties. The group recognises revenue when it transfers control over a product or services to a 
customer. The following indicators are used by the Group in determining when control has passed to the customer:

• the group has the right to payment for the product or service;
• the customer has legal title to the product;
• the group has transferred physical possession of the product to the customer;
• the customer has the significant risks and rewards of ownership of the product; and
• the customer has accepted the product.

The transaction price is allocated to specific performance obligations within the contract, these prices are specifically linked 
and disclosed in accordance to the performance obligations and are determined with reference to the stand alone selling  
prices of each of these obligations. Hence there is no need for management to make any assumptions as it relates to allocating 
the transaction price to the various performance obligations.

NATURE OF SIGNIFICANT REVENUE STREAMS
The Group’s revenue streams consists of the major products and services lines set out below, which includes a description of
the principle activities from which the Group generates its revenue, significant judgements applied in assessing the timing of
measurement of performance obligation and the transaction price allocated to performance obligations.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES
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MAJOR PRODUCT LINES OVER A PERIOD IN TIME

MAJOR PRODUCT LINES AT A POINT IN TIME

CONTRACT ASSETS
Timing of revenue recognition may differ from the timing of invoicing to customers. We record a contract asset when revenue
is recognised prior to invoicing. Contract assets raised are expected to be realised within 12 months as there is no significant 
difference as to when the performance obligations are delivered and when the assets become contractually due.

CONTRACT LIABILITIES
Timing of revenue recognition may differ from the timing of invoicing to customers. We record a contract liability where 
the consideration relating to the revenue has been received prior to the performance obligation having been met. Contract 
liabilities are expected to be utilised within 12 months. 

3.13 FINANCE INCOME AND FINANCE COSTS
Finance income comprises interest income on funds invested. Interest income is recognised as it accrues in profit or loss, using
the effective interest method.

Products and Services Nature, timing of satisfaction of performance obligations and significant 
payment terms

Software licence with support and
maintenance

Software licensing programs include on-premises licenses combined with 
continuous Software Support and Maintenance.

Software licence with support and maintenance conveys rights to use of the 
licenced software, support to utilise the software and upgrades to ensure the 
continued functionality of the software. Management has determined that the 
support and upgrades are critical to the use of the software and as such are 
recognised as a single performance obligation and the associated revenue 
recognised over a point in time with reference to the contractual term.

Products and Services Nature, timing of satisfaction of performance obligations and significant 
payment terms

Installation and implementation
services

Revenue from installation and implementation services is recognised once 
theinstallation and implementation is complete, and the customer can make use 
of the product.

Consulting Revenue related to consulting services comprises mostly specialised resources 
based on consumption. Revenue from consulting services is recognised as 
services are provided.

Support and maintenance Revenue related to support and maintenance services comprises mostly support 
services or maintenance required on existing software. Revenue from support  
and maintenance services is recognised as ad-hoc services are provided and the 
necessary repairs, maintenance or equivalent services has been completed to the 
customer’s satisfaction.

Physical goods Revenue from physical goods is recognised at the point in time when ownership  
of the goods are transferred, and the customer takes control of the goods.
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Finance expenses comprise interest expense on borrowings. All borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss using the 
effective interest method, other than borrowing costs directly attributable to asset being developed, which is accounted for as
part of the asset.

3.14 FOREIGN CURRENCY TRANSLATION

FUNCTIONAL AND PRESENTATION CURRENCY
Items included in the annual consolidated financial statements of each of the group’s entities are measured using the currency 
of the primary economic environment in which the entity operates (‘the functional currency’). The annual consolidated financial 
statements are presented in ZAR (R), which is the group’s presentation currency.

FOREIGN OPERATIONS
The assets and liabilities of foreign operations, including goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on acquisition, are 
translated to ZAR (South African Rand) at exchange rates at the reporting date. The income and expenses of foreign operations
are translated to ZAR (South African Rand) at exchange rates at the dates of the transactions. 

Foreign currency differences are recognised in other comprehensive income, and presented in the foreign currency translation 
reserve in equity. However, if the foreign operation is a non-wholly owned subsidiary, then the relevant proportion of the 
translation difference is allocated to non-controlling interests. When a foreign operation is disposed of, such that control, 
significant influence or joint control is lost, the cumulative amount in the foreign currency translation reserve related to that 
foreign operation is reclassified to profit or loss as part of the gain or loss on disposal. When the group disposes of only part of
its interest in a subsidiary that includes a foreign operation while retaining control, the relevant portion of the cumulative 
amount is reattributed to non-controlling interests.

TRANSACTIONS AND BALANCES
Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of 
the transactions or valuation where items are re-measured.

Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from the translation at year-end 
exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are recognised in the statement of profit
and loss. Foreign exchange gains and losses that relate to borrowings and cash and cash equivalents are presented in the 
statement of profit and loss within ‘finance income or costs’. All other foreign exchange gains and losses are presented in the
statement of profit and loss within ‘Other (losses) / gains – net’.

3.15 EARNINGS PER SHARE
The group presents basic and diluted earnings per share (EPS) data for its ordinary shares. Basic EPS is calculated by dividing 
the profit or loss attributable to ordinary shareholders of the group by the weighted average number of ordinary shares 
outstanding during the period. Diluted EPS is determined by adjusting the profit or loss attributable to ordinary shareholders 
and the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding for the effects of all dilutive potential ordinary shares, which 
comprises share options granted to employees.

The group calculates headline earnings per share (HEPS) data for its ordinary shares. Headline earnings are determined 
by excluding certain items from profit or loss attributable to ordinary shareholders through making use of the table and 
requirements contained in Circular 01/2019 issued by the South African Institute of Chartered Accountants.

3.16 SEGMENT REPORTING
An operating segment is a component of an entity that engages in business activities from which it may earn revenues, 
the operating results of which components are regularly reviewed by the group’s chief operating decision makers to make 
decisions about resources to be allocated and to assess its performance, and for which financial information is available.
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The group’s identification of its segments and the measurement of segment results are based on the group’s internal reporting
to management as used for day to day decision making and as reviewed by the chief operating decision maker, which in 
the group’s case is the executive committee. The segments have been identified according to the nature of their respective 
products and services.

4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS, KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY AND FAIR VALUE 
DETERMINATION
The group’s management makes assumptions, estimates and judgements in the process of applying the group’s accounting 
policies that affect the assets, liabilities, income and expenses in the annual consolidated financial statements prepared in 
accordance with IFRSs. The assumptions, estimates and judgements are based on historical experience and other factors 
that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. While the management reviews their judgements, estimates and 
assumptions continuously, the actual results will seldom equal to the estimates.

The estimates and the underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are 
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision policy affects only that period, or in the period of the 
revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future periods.

4.1 RESIDUAL VALUES AND USEFUL LIVES OF TANGIBLE AND INTANGIBLE ASSETS
The useful lives and residual values of items of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets are estimated annually. 
The actual lives and residual values may vary depending on a variety of factors such as the nature of item, the condition as 
result of current usage and the expected physical wear and tear of each item and technical relevance of property, plant and 
equipment and intangible assets.

4.2 ESTIMATED IMPAIRMENT OF GOODWILL AND INTANGIBLE ASSETS WITH INDEFINITE USEFUL LIVES
The group tests annually whether intangible assets with indefinite lives have suffered any impairment, in accordance with the 
accounting policy stated in note 3.3. The recoverable amounts of certain cash-generating units have been determined based 
on value-in use calculation. These calculations require the use of estimates. Refer note 7 for detail surrounding the estimations 
utilised in these calculations.

The group assesses on an annual basis whether the classification of indefinite life intangible assets is appropriate.

4.3 MEASUREMENT OF THE RECOVERABLE AMOUNT OF TRADE RECEIVABLES
Management has made estimates on the recoverable amount of the group’s trade receivables around the ability of the 
customer to settle outstanding debts when it becomes dud estimations on future default rates translated into expected credit 
losses.. Past payment history, financial wellness and historical write offs are considered part of the estimation uncertainty 
associated with the measurement of the recoverable amount of trade and other receivables. Refer to note 12 and note 38.1.

4.4 SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS
The fair value of employee share options is measured using the Black-Scholes formula. Measurement inputs include share price 
on measurement date, exercise price of the instrument, expected volatility, weighted average expected life of the instrument, 
expected dividends and the risk free rate. Refer to note 15.

4.5 DEFERRED TAX ASSETS
Deferred tax assets have been raised at year end on income tax losses and temporary differences in certain subsidiaries based 
on current profit forecasts. The Group analysed its deferred tax assets in respect of assessed losses and expect to realise the 
deferred tax assets in the ordinary course of business.

4.6 PERCENTAGE OF COMPLETION
Management estimates the costs to complete projects at each reporting period and calculates the percentage of completion 
based on the costs incurred at that date as a percentage of the total costs to be incurred. The percentage of completion is 

ACCOUNTING POLICIES



Sebata Holdings Annual Consolidated Financial Statements For The Year Ended 2020 31

applied to the expected revenue of the project to measure the revenue to be recognised at the end of each reporting period.
4.7 REVENUE CONTRACTS WITH CUSTOMERS
Our contracts with customers often include promises to transfer multiple products and services to a customer, for instance 
goods, software and support and maintenance. Determining whether products and services are considered distinct 
performance obligations that should be accounted for separately versus together may require significant judgement. When a 
software based service includes both on- premises software licenses and services, support and upgrades management assess 
whether the support and upgrades provided are critical to the functionality of the software in determining whether there are 
multiple or a single performance obligation. Where an integrated product offering is sold management assess the allocation 
of the transaction price with reference to the stand alone selling prices of the individual performance obligations.

4.8 CONTROL
The control principle in IFRS 10 sets out the following three elements of control: power over the investee; exposure, or rights, 
to variable returns from involvement with the investee; and the ability to use power over the investee to affect the amount 
of those returns. Management assess ownership levels, board control and shareholder agreements in determining whether 
control exists or not.

4.9 MEASUREMENT AND RECOVERABILITY OF OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS SUBJECT TO EARN OUT
Other financial assets comprises amounts that are subject to certain earn out targets. Management assess the recoverability of 
these based on the percentage of the targets achieved to date, the future forecast and probability of achieving these forecasts. 
All these targets are expected to be achieved.

4.10 MEASUREMENT OF INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES
Associates recognised as a result of the disposal of the majority of the interest in a subsidiary are measured at the fair value 
of the retained investment, this fair value is determined with reference to the consideration received for the disposal of the 
majority interest.

5. NEW STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS
The group has chosen not to early adopt the following standards and interpretations, and will do so in future financial periods. 

ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Standards Details of amendment Annual periods 
beginning on or after

IAS 1 and IAS 8 Definition of material. The group has not yet assessed the impact of 
the amendments.

1 January 2020

IFRS 3 This amendment revises the definition of a business. According to 
feedback received by the IASB, application of the current guidance 
is commonly thought to be too complex, and it results in too many 
transactions qualifying as business combinations. More acquisitions 
are likely to be accounted for as asset acquisitions. The group has 
not yet assessed the impact of the amendments.

1 January 2020
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Standards Details of amendment Annual periods 
beginning on or after

Conceptual Framework for 
Financial Reporting 2018

The Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting (Conceptual 
Framework) describes the objective of and concepts for general 
purpose financial reporting. It is a practical tool that helps the 
International Accounting Standards Board (Board) to develop 
requirements in IFRS Standards based on consistent concepts. 
Consideration of these concepts, in turn, should result in the Board
developing IFRS Standards that require entities to provide financial 
information that is useful to investors, lenders and other creditors.

The Board decided to revise the Conceptual Framework because 
some important issues were not covered and some guidance was 
unclear or out of date. The revised Conceptual Framework, issued 
by the Board in March 2018, includes:

• a new chapter on measurement;
• guidance on reporting financial performance;
• improved definitions of an asset and a liability, and guidance 

supporting these definitions; and
• clarifications in important areas, such as the roles of stewardship, 

prudence and measurement uncertainty in financial reporting.

The Board also updated references to the Conceptual Framework 
in IFRS Standards by issuing Amendments to References to the 
Conceptual Framework in IFRS Standards. This was done to support 
transition to the revised Conceptual Framework for companies that
develop accounting policies using the Conceptual Framework when 
no IFRS Standard applies to a particular transaction.

1 January 2020

CHANGE IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES
The group has adopted all new accounting standards that became effective in the current reporting period. The following 
standards had an impact on the group:

IFRS 16 LEASES
The group has adopted IFRS 16 retrospectively from 1 April 2019, but has not restated comparatives for the 2019 reporting 
period, as permitted under the specific transitional provisions in the standard. The right-of-use asset was measured at the  
value of the lease liability and adjusted by the amount of any previously recognised prepaid or accrued lease payments. The 
reclassifications and the adjustments arising from the adoption of IFRS 16 are therefore recognised in the opening statement  
of financial position on 1 April 2019. IFRS 16 introduced a single, on-balance sheet accounting model for leases. As a result, the 
group, as a lessee, has recognised right-of-use assets representing its rights to use the underlying assets and lease liabilities 
representing its obligation to make lease payments. After the adoption of IFRS 16, the group recognised a depreciation 
expense on the right-of-use assets and an interest expense accruing on the lease liabilities.

From 1 April 2019, the group recognises right-of-use assets and lease liabilities at the lease commencement date for most 
leases. The lease liabilities were measured at the present value of the remaining lease payments, discounted using the lessee’s 
incremental borrowing rate of prime as of 1 April 2019, the incremental borrowing rate has been utilised as the rate implicit 
in the lease was not readily available. The lease liability is subsequently increased by the interest cost on the lease liability and 
decreased by lease payments made. Interest costs are charged to the income statement over the lease period so as to produce 
a constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability for each period.
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The associated right-of-use assets were measured at the amount equal to the lease liability and are subsequently measured at 
cost less any accumulated depreciation and impairment losses and adjusted for certain remeasurements of the lease liability. 
The right-of-use assets are depreciated over the shorter of the assets’ useful lives and the lease terms on a straight-line basis. 

On adoption of IFRS 16, the group recognised right-of-use assets and lease liabilities. The impact on adoption is summarised
below:

The following practical expedients have been applied in the adoption of IFRS 16
• Leases have been grouped together and a single discount rate applied to determine the lease liability as these leases all 

had similar characteristics.
• Leases that were due to be settled within 12 months on the adoption of IFRS 16 have been treated as short term leases.
• Initial direct costs have been excluded from the measurement of the right of use assets on initial application.

1 April 2019

Right of use assets 47,373
Adjusted by previously recognised lease smoothing accruals -7,204
Total Assets 40,169

Non-current lease liabilities 24,895
Current lease liabilities 22,478
Total Liabilities 47,373
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NOTES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS

2020 2019

Figures in R’000 Cost
Accumulated
depreciation

Carrying
value Cost

Accumulated
depreciation

Carrying
value

OWNED ASSETS
Plant and equipment 109 (98) 11 8 882 (4 950) 3 932
Motor vehicles 1 212 (720) 492 24 174 (14 837) 9 337
Furniture and fittings 7 805 (5 878) 1 927 12 759 (8 048) 4 711
Office equipment 98 (91) 7 2 823 (2 208) 615
IT equipment 7 640 (4 108) 3 532 20 787 (13 678) 7 109

CAPITALISED LEASED ASSETS
Leasehold improvements 6 646 (4 768) 1 878 10 121 (5 996) 4 125
Right of use assets 23 636 (12 897) 10 739 - - -

47 146 (28 560) 18 586 79 546 (49 717) 29 829

6. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Figures in R’000

Carrying
value at

beginning  
of year Additions

Additions
through
business

combinations Disposals
Disposal of 
subsidiaries Depreciation

Carrying
value at end

of year

OWNED ASSETS
Plant and equipment 3 932 1 152 - (52) (4 107) (914) 11
Motor vehicles 9 337 1 505 - (407) (7 367) (2 576) 492
Furniture and fittings 4 711 797 - (11) (2 151) (1 419) 1 927
Office equipment 615 98 - - (371) (335) 7
IT equipment 7 109 5 045 - (554) (3 738) (4 330) 3 532

CAPITALISED LEASED 
ASSETS

  

Leasehold improvements 4 125 1 502 - - (1 273) (2 476) 1 878
Right of use assets - 40 169 - - (11 768) (17 662) 10 739

29 829 50 268 - (1 024) (30 775) (29 712) 18 586

The carrying amounts of property, plant and equipment can be reconciled as follows:

2020
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Assets acquired under mortgage bonds and instalment sale liabilities are encumbered as security for repayment of these 
borrowings (refer note 17).

In the previous year, the group only recognised lease assets and lease liabilities in relation to leases that were classified as 
‘finance leases’ under IAS 17 Leases. The assets were presented in property, plant and equipment and the liabilities as part 
of the groups’ borrowings. For adjustments recognised on adoption of IFRS 16 on 1 April 2019, refer to note 5.

Figures in R’000

Carrying
value at

beginning  
of year Additions

Additions
through
business

combinations Disposals
Disposal of
subsidiaries Depreciation

Carrying
value at end

of year

OWNED ASSETS
Plant and equipment 3 100 2 036 - (53) - (1 151) 3 932
Motor vehicles 12 141 2 707 - (2 402) - (3 109) 9 337
Furniture and fittings 6 326 1 203 - (1 083) - (1 735) 4 711
Office equipment 944 86 - (14) - (401) 615
IT equipment 8 243 3 999 - (235) - (4 898) 7 109

CAPITALISED LEASED 
ASSETS
Leasehold improvements 5 491 663 - (6) - (2 023) 4 125

36 245 10 694 - (3 793) - (13 317) 29 829
Notes

2019
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2020 2019

Figures in R’000 Cost
Accumulated
amortisation

Carrying
value Cost

Accumulated
amortisation

Carrying
value

DEFINED LIFE INTANGIBLE ASSETS
Computer software, internally
generated 48 876 (12 161) 36 715 552 088 (35 931) 516 157

Computer software, under
development - - - - - -

Computer software, externally
purchased 4 838 (2 278) 2 560 6 250 (2 277) 3 973

53 714 (14 439) 39 275 558 338 (38 208) 520 130

INDEFINITE LIFE INTANGIBLE 
ASSETS
Patents and trademarks and
other rights 16 - 16 19 - 19

Goodwill 14 931 - 14 931 106 682 - 106 682
14 947 - 14 947 106 701 - 106 701

68 661 (14 439) 54 222 665 039 (38 208) 626 831

7. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Figures in R’000

Carrying
value at

beginning  
of year Additions

Additions
through
business

combinations Transfers
Disposal of
subsidiaries 

Amortisation 
and 

Impairments

Carrying
value at end

of year

DEFINED LIFE 
INTANGIBLE ASSETS
Computer software, 
internally generated 516 157 59 417 - - (436 987) (101 872) 36 715
Computer software, under
development - - - - - - -
Computer software, 
externally purchased 3 973 1 585 - - (1 742) (1 256) 2 560

520 130 61 002   -    -  (438 729) (103 128) 39 275

INDEFINITE LIFE 
INTANGIBLE ASSETS
Patents and trademarks 
and other rights 19 2 - - - (5) 16
Goodwill 106 682 - - - (90 583) (1 168) 14 931

106 701 2 - - (90 583) (1 173) 14 947

626 831 61 004 - - (529 312) (104 301) 54 222

The carrying amounts of intangible assets can be reconciled as follows:

2020
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Figures in R'000

Carrying
value at

beginning  
of year Additions

Additions
through
business

combinations Transfers
Disposal of 
subsidiaries

Amortisation 
and 

Impairments

Carrying
value at end

of year

DEFINED LIFE 
INTANGIBLE ASSETS
Computer software, 
internally generated 427 442 85 798 - 22 767 - (19 850) 516 157
Computer software, under
development 22 767 - - (22 767) - - -
Computer software, 
externally purchased 4 347 883 - - - (1 257) 3 973

454 556 86 681 - - - (21 107) 520 130

INDEFINITE LIFE 
INTANGIBLE ASSETS
Patents and trademarks 
and other rights 34 - - - (15) - 19
Brandnames - - - - - - -
Intellectual property - - - - - - -
Goodwill 105 514 - 1 168 - - - 106 682

105 548 - 1 168 - (15) - 106 701

560 104 86 681 1 168 - (15) (21 107) 626 831

Goodwill of R1.1m recognised at acquisition of Sharepoint Garage related to the networks division has been impaired in the 
2020 financial year, the business was performing sub-optimally and the decision was taken to close the division.

The forced withdrawal, due to long-standing non-payment, of our services from our largest municipal client necessitated 
a significant once off impairment of R67m of our internally generated software solutions within the revenue management 
solutions division.

Intangible assets are allocated to their respective underlying cash-generating units, which support the valuation of the 
intangible asset.

2019
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Goodwill Intangible assets
Figures R'000 2020 2019 2020 2019
Revenue management solutions 8 482 76 874 - -
Sebata H2O - 22 441 - -
Networks 6 449 7 367 16 19

14 931 106 682 16 19

Goodwill and indefinite life intangible assets are allocated to the following Group’s of cash-generating units:

IMPAIRMENT TESTING BASED ON VALUE-IN USE

Value-in use calculations use pre-tax cash flow projections based on financial forecasts, approved by management, and 
cover a five year period. The estimated growth rates applied are in line with that of the industry in which the cash-generating 
unit operates and are materially similar to assumptions of external market sources. The cash-generating units’ recoverable 
amount is most sensitive to the growth and discount rate assumptions applied. Assumptions were based on management’s 
past experience and best estimates regarding forecasts. Management determined forecasted gross margin based on past 
performance and its expectations of market developments. The discount rates used are pre-tax and reflect the appropriate 
risk associated with the industry and respective businesses.

A summary of the key assumptions used for the value-in use calculations are as follows:

Growth rate
for 5 year
period %

Growth rate into 
perpetuity % Discount rate %

2020
Revenue management solutions 5.00 - 10.00 6,00 11.89-14.24
Sebata H2O 6.00 - 12.00 5,00 12.18-14.24
Networks 4.00 - 8.00 3,00 11.64-14.24

2019
Revenue management solutions 8.00 -15.00 6,00 11.89-14.24
Sebata H2O 18.00 - 22.00 5,00 12.18-14.24
Networks 12.00 - 16.00 3,00 11.64-14.24

The impairment calculations were tested for sensitivity to significant changes in the key assumptions used. The basis for the 
sensitivity analysis was a reduction of up to 20% in the forecasted operating profit and limiting of the growth rates to the  
lower levels used in the value-in use calculation and a 5% increase in the discount rate used. The sensitivity analysis did not  
result in any impairment triggers being identified.
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Figures in R’000 2020 2019

Balance at the beginning of the year 19 702 17 806
Share of profit/(loss) in investments accounted for using the equity method (2 098) 1 896
Recognition of equity accounted investment (refer to note 35) 570 553 -

588 157 19 702

Sebata Municipal Solutions 273 109 -
R-data 43 565 -
MAPS 6 437 -
Inzalo Utility Systems 227 928 -
Amanzi Meters 8 757 -
Kyostax 22 497 19 702
Other 5 864 -

588 157 19 702

KYOSTAX PROPRIETARY LIMITED
The Group owns 30% of an associate whose shares are not publicly traded. Kyostax is an investment property company. 
Summarised financial information of the associate is set out below:

SEBATA MUNICIPAL SOLUTIONS PROPRIETARY LIMITED
On  31  March  2020,  the  Group  disposed  of  57.5%  of  its  interest  in  Sebata  Municipal  Solutions  leaving  the  group  
with  a remaining 42.5% . This resulted in a loss of control of the subsidiary and the remaining investment being accounted for 
as an associate. Refer to note 36 for more detail on the transaction. Sebata Municipal Solutions’ shares are not publicly traded.

Figures in R’000 2020 2019
Total non-current assets 84 000 84 000
Total current assets 8 542 12 906
Total non-current liabilities (6 030) (16 862)
Total current liabilities (17 703) (17 758)
Net assets 68 809 62 286

Revenue 14 253 13 560
Profit for the year 10 164 6 320

Figures in R’000 2020 2019
Total non-current assets 354 909 -
Total current assets 58 032 -
Total non-current liabilities (62 551) -
Total current liabilities (181 261) -
Net assets 169 129 -

Revenue 202 287 -
Loss for the year (79 377) -

Kyostax’s principal place of business is 28 Edward Road, Sandown, 2106.

8. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES



Sebata Holdings Annual Consolidated Financial Statements For The Year Ended 2020 40

NOTES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS

MICROMEGA ACCOUNTING AND PROFESSIONAL SERVICES PROPRIETARY LIMITED (MAPS)
On 31 March 2020, the Group disposed of 57.5% of its interest in MAPS leaving the group with a remaining 42.5%. This 
resulted in a loss of control of the subsidiary and the remaining investment being accounted for as an associate. Refer to note 
36 for more detail on the transaction. MAPS’ shares are not publicly traded.

R-DATA PROPRIETARY LIMITED
On  31  March  2020,  the  Group  disposed  of  57.5%  of  its  interest  in  R-data  leaving  the  group  with  a  remaining  42.5%.  
This resulted in a loss of control of the subsidiary and the remaining investment being accounted for as an associate. Refer to 
note 36 for more detail on the transaction. R-data’s shares are not publicly traded.

Sebata Municipal Solutions is a leading provider of enterprise management systems, integrated technology solutions and 
multidisciplinary professional services, focusing on servicing municipalities and the provincial governments. Sebata Municipal
Solutions’ flagship product, SebataEMS was developed specifically to meet the requirements set out by National Treasury 
through its municipal standard chart of accounts (mSCOA) financial reporting framework and provides for full integration 
across the various required modules. Through its team of innovative and solutions-driven professionals, who are all specialists
in their respective fields, Sebata Municipal Solutions’ services extend to numerous local government institutions and public 
utilities.

Sebata’s principal place of business is Southdowns Office Park, Block B, c/o John Vorster Drive and Karee Street, Centurion, 
0157.

MAPS  is  an  accredited  training  office,  focusing  on  the  upskilling  and  education  of  prospective  accounting  students  as  
they complete  their  studies.  MAPS,  through  its  relationship  with  Sebata  Municipal  Solutions,  facilitates  the  provision  of  
key experiences to its candidates through secondments to municipalities as trainee accountants. MAPS holds accreditations 
from the South African Institute  of Professional  Accountants (SAIPA), the Chartered Institute  of Management  Accountants 
(CIMA) and the South African Institute of Chartered Accountants (SAICA) with a level 1 SAICA status. MAPS is one of few 
companies that holds accreditations with all three of these accounting bodies.

MAPS principal place of business is 83 Henry Street, Bloemfontein, 9301

Figures in R’000 2020 2019
Total non-current assets 6 578 -
Total current assets 42 -
Total non-current liabilities - -
Total current liabilities (14 002) -
Net assets (7 382) -

Revenue 6 024 -
Loss for the year (12 351) -

Figures in R’000 2020 2019
Total non-current assets 24 490 -
Total current assets 6 590 -
Total non-current liabilities (2 604) -
Total current liabilities (244) -
Net assets 28 232 -

Revenue 35 687 -
Profit for the year 6 769 -
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INZALO UTILITY-SYSTEMS PROPRIETARY LIMITED
On 30 November 2019, the Group disposed of 57.5% of its interest in Inzalo Utility-Systems leaving the group with a remaining 
42.5%. This resulted in a loss of control of the subsidiary and the remaining investment being accounted for as an associate. 
Refer to note 36 for more detail on the transaction. The shares of Inzalo Utility Systems are not publicly traded.

AMANZI METERS PROPRIETARY LIMITED
On 30 November 2019, the Group disposed of 57.5% of its interest in Amanzi Meters leaving the group with a remaining 
17.5%. This resulted in a loss of control of the subsidiary and the remaining investment being accounted for as an associate. 
Refer to note 36 for more detail on the transaction. Amanzi’s shares are not publicly traded.

R-Data  specialises  in  providing  public  sector  accounting  system  solutions  throughout  Southern  Africa  mainly  
through  the development and subsequent enhancement of the PROMUN accounting system. This system-based solution 
is supplemented by system implementation,  system training,  system development and database design, carried out by 
R-Data’s  highly-skilled technical and support personnel. R-Data’s consistent and market leading delivery on these support 
functions, along with the robust and comprehensive nature of the development of the PROMUN system, has ensured long-
term and valued relationships with its clients.

R-data’s principal place of business is M5 Business Park, Block B, Unit 22, Eastman Road, Ndabeni, Cape Town, 7405.

Inzalo Utility Systems is the premier supplier of electronic water control and Standard Transfer Specification (STS) Association 
approved prepayment devices. They cater for a wide range of tailor-made metering solutions for water service providers and 
their customers through the application of next generation smart water management devices with a strong footprint in both 
the prepaid and bulk water metering market in South Africa. Inzalo Utility Systems provides various products and services that 
enable flow limitation, prepaid, postpaid billing and credit and revenue management.

Inzalo Utiity-System’s principal place of business is 1st Floor, Highland House, 43 Alexander Road, Westmead, 3608.

Figures in R’000 2020 2019
Total non-current assets 126 084 -
Total current assets 89 739 -
Total non-current liabilities (58 715) -
Total current liabilities (43 476) -
Net assets 113 632 -

Revenue 167 919 -
Profit for the year 3 142 -

Figures in R’000 2020 2019
Total non-current assets 6 806 -
Total current assets 7 221 -
Total non-current liabilities (437) -
Total current liabilities (26 528) -
Net assets (12 938) -

Revenue 20 273 -
Profit for the year 174 -
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Amanzi Meters designs, develops and manufactures plastic water meters, ball valves and a variety of meter boxes. Dedication 
to  a  compliance-driven  production  environment  means  all  of  Amanzi’s  products  are  tested  in  accordance  with  
SANAS regulations in its fully accredited lab. Amanzi’s bespoke products provide practical solutions for water management 
reticulation and  the  nature  of  the  business’  activities  have  allowed  for  various  synergies  with  Inzalo  Utility  Systems  
to  be  achieved, specifically in respect of the manufacturing of plastic based meters.

Amanzi Meters’ principal place of business is 9 Walter Reid Road, Tongaat, 4399.

All loans receivable are denominated in South African Rand. The fair value of other financial assets have been assessed taking
into account their respective interest rates and maturity periods. None of the fair values differ materially from the corresponding 
carrying values due to the short term nature of these assets except for the financial asset due from Inzalo Capital Holdings 
which is the present value of the future cash flow.

EXPOSURE TO CREDIT RISK
All of the Group’s other financial assets at amortised cost are considered to have low credit risk, the risk rate is determined 
with reference to the counter parties ability to repay the funds, their past defaults and forward looking information including 
forecasts and macro economic factors impacting on these forecasts, the loss allowance recognised during the period was 
therefore limited to 12 months expected losses. ECLs on other financial assets are only provided once indicators that place 
doubt on the borrowers ability to repay the funds have come to light.

KYOSTAX PROPRIETARY LIMITED
The loan is unsecured, interest free and is repayable in the normal course of business in accordance with the shareholders 
agreement.

TRAINING ROOM ONLINE
The receivable became due on the deferred payment due on the disposal of investments in the Training room online. The final
settlement was expected during the 2020 financial year, this was not forthcoming as the underlying business has been 

Figures in R’000 2020 2019

NON-INTEREST BEARING
Kyostax Proprietary Limited 3 640 4 640
NOSA Receivable 29 371 29 501
Sebata Municipal Solutions (Pty) Ltd 121 174 -
Micromega Accounting and Professional Services (Pty) Ltd 8 413 -
Other 2 748 1 000

165 346 35 141

INTEREST BEARING
Training Room Online Receivable 47 464 44 713
Inzalo Utility-Solutions (Pty) Ltd 9 997 -
Inzalo UMS (Pty) Ltd 10 475 -
Inzalo Capital Holdings (Pty) Ltd 802 025 -

869 961 44 713
Credit loss allowance (47 464) -

822 497 44 713

Current 185 818 79 854
Non-current 802 025 -

987 843 79 854

9. OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS
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over burdened by debt and continues to struggle for performance. These conditions have placed significant doubt on the 
recoverability of the amount due, the decision was taken to impair the amount due and pursue the repayment thereof through 
legal proceedings.

NOSA
The receivable on the deferred payment due on the disposal of the NOSA group of companies in the 2019 financial year. The 
deferred payment has arisen as a result of a dispute on the final purchase price on the sale of the above mentioned group. 
The amount was expected to be settled within the 2020 financial year, however this was delayed through legal proceedings, 
these proceedings are due to take place within the 2020 financial year and the Board remains confident that this will be settled 
within the year.

SEBATA, MAPS, INZALO UTILITY-SYSTEMS AND INZALO UMS
The loans arose during the periods in which each of these businesses was controlled. Refer to note 36 for detail around each 
of the respective disposals. While each of the transactions remains contingent on the achievement of performance targets, 
the loans would not be transferred. Each of these are unsecured and repayable in the ordinary course of business. The loans 
to Sebata and MAPS are interest free while the loans to Inzalo Utility-Systems and Inzalo UMS accrue interest at prime.

INZALO CAPITAL HOLDINGS (PTY) LTD
The receivable is the present value of the deferred payments due on the disposal of interest in the following companies: 
Sebata Municipal Solutions, Micromega Accounting and Professional Services, Inzalo Utility-Systems, Amanzi Meters and 
Inzalo UMS. Refer  to  note  36  for  more  detail  on  the  transactions.  The  loan  accrues  interest  at  prime  and  becomes  
repayable  on  the achievement of the performance conditions stipulated in the sale agreements.

Other financial assets are disclosed net of any expected credit losses. Refer to note 38.

Inventories are shown net of write downs.

The reduction in inventories held is directly related to the loss of control of subsidiaries disclosed in note 36.

Figures in R’000 2020 2019
Raw materials - 18 781
Finished goods 5 256 55 507

5 256 74 288
No inventories are pledged as security.

The amount of inventories recognised as an expense during the year:

Carrying amount of inventories sold 12 530 156 786
Write-down of inventories - 2 845

10. INVENTORIES
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Trade debtors 32 516 215 385
Prepaid expenses and deposits 1 155 6 359
Value Added Tax 5 084 4 282
Other 610 36 364

39 365 262 390
Allowance for credit losses (767) (36 501)

38 598 225 889

ITEMS INCLUDED IN TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES NOT CLASSIFIED AS 
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
Prepaid expenses and deposits 1 155 6 359
Value Added Tax 5 084 4 282

6 239 10 641

Trade and other receivables net of non-financial instruments (refer note 37) 32 359 215 248

The average credit period is less than 60 days with no interest charged on late payment. The credit quality of trade and other
receivables can be assessed by reference to external credit ratings, or historical information, which indicates the credit quality 
as high as there have been no impairments on these receivables historically. Refer to note 38 for further detail on credit risk 
and expected credit loss allowances.

The carrying amount of trade and other receivables approximates their fair value due to the short term nature thereof.

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES PLEDGED AS SECURITY 
Trade and other receivables were pledged as security for overdraft facilities of R2 million (2019: R41.1 million). The rate charged 
is prime (2019: prime).

CURRENCIES
The carrying amounts of trade and other receivables are denominated mainly in South African Rand with amounts
denominated in other currencies not considered to give rise to a material forex risk.

11. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

NOTES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS
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Figures in R’000 2020 2019
FAVOURABLE CASH BALANCES
Cash on hand 170 54
Current accounts 10 897 15 490
Call accounts 233 3 009
Deposit accounts 3 434 23 119

14 734 41 672
OVERDRAFT
Bank overdraft 863 22 546

863 22 546

The following facilities are available:
Working capital financing 2 000 42 000
Asset financing - 10 000

CURRENCIES
The carrying amounts of cash and cash equivalents are denominated mainly in South African Rand with amounts denominated 
in other currencies not considered to give rise to a material Forex risk.

12. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Figures in R’000 2020 2019
AUTHORISED
200 000 000  Ordinary shares of R0.01 each  2 000  2 000

ISSUED
113 127 757 (2019:112 284 250)  Ordinary shares of R0.01 each 1 131 1 123
Share premium 283 932 279 249

285 063 280 372

SHARE RECONCILIATION Number of 
shares

Number of 
shares

Shares outstanding - beginning of the period 112 284 250 114 597 202
Treasury shares sold/(purchased) during the year 843 507 (2 345 202)
Share-based payment transactions - 32 250
Shares outstanding - end of the period 113 127 757 112 284 250

13. SHARE CAPITAL

The directors are authorised, until the forthcoming annual general meeting, to dispose of the unissued shares for any purpose 
and upon such terms and conditions as they deem fit, subject to the provision of section 38 and 41 of the Companies Act of 
South Africa and Johannesburg Stock Exchange requirements.

During the year the group sold 843,507 (2019: repurchased 2,345,202) treasury shares on the open market at an average price 
of 550 (2019: 572) cents to be utilised to settle future vendor payments and vested share options. An amount of nil (2019: 
32,250) treasury shares were issued to employees during the year for vested and exercised options at an average price of nil 
(2019: 618) cents.

14. FOREIGN CURRENCY TRANSLATION RESERVE
The foreign currency translation reserve comprises all foreign currency differences arising from the translation of the financial 
statements of foreign operations.



Sebata Holdings Annual Consolidated Financial Statements For The Year Ended 2020 46

NOTES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS

 Grant Date 

 Remaining 
contractual useful 

life 

Number of ordinary 
share options

 Number of 
ordinary share 

options

Comprising: 2020 2019

Share options at an exercise price of R 2.35 per share Sep-15 2.5 years 44 895 153 229
Share options at an exercise  price of R 8.00 per share April 2014 0 years - 100 000
Share options at an exercise price of R 20.00 per share Jan 2015 4 years 811 769 1 206 079
Share options at an exercise price of R 20.00 per share Aug 2015 5 years 87 423 297 087
Share options at an exercise price of R 10.00 per share Nov 2015 0 years - 180 000
Share options at an exercise price of R 10.00 per share Dec 2015 5 years 180 000 180 000
Share options at an exercise price of R 20.00 per share Dec 2016 6 years 82 215 82 215
Share options at an exercise price of R 20.00 per share Feb 2017 6 years 512 500 512 500

1 718 802 2 711 110

15. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT RESERVE (EQUITY SETTLED)
Sebata  Holdings  Limited  established  the  Micromega  Share  Incentive  Trust  in  2001  together  with  a  detailed  share  
incentive scheme. The purpose of this scheme is to provide employees of the Sebata group with the opportunity to acquire 
an interest in equity of Sebata Holdings Limited, thereby providing such employees with a further incentive to advance the 
group’s interests, and promoting an identity of interests between such employees and the shareholders of the group.

The scheme is equity settled and in terms of the scheme, share options may not be exercised until after the period, provided 
that the employee remains in the employment of the Sebata group, calculated from the acceptance date, of:

• more than three years shall have elapsed, in which event not more than one third thereof;
• more than four years shall have elapsed, in which event not more than a further one third thereof, representing two thirds 

thereof cumulatively;
• more than five years shall have elapsed, in which event not more than a further one third thereof, representing 100% 

thereof cumulatively.

The share options lapse if employment terminates before share options have vested.

The share options expire on the expiry of the option period, being eight years from grant date.

OUTSTANDING OPTIONS
The  following  options  have  been  granted  in  terms  of  the  MICROmega  Share  Incentive  Trust  to  employees  and  are  
still outstanding.

 Number of ordinary share options 2020 2019
Options granted at the beginning of the year 2,711,110 3,762,554
Movement during the year:
 - Options exercised during the year - (32,250)
 - Options lapsed during the year (992 308) (1 019 194)

1 718 802 2 711 110
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CASH SETTLED
During the year the group entered into two transactions for the disposal of its majority interests in the Water Group and the 
Software Group (refer to note 36 for further detail). As part of the transactions the group has donated 5% of its interest in 
the respective groups to the purchasers of the majority interests. The donation was structured into the agreement to achieve 
the necessary BBBEE requirements from the first day of implementation of the transaction. The donation has been split into 
two tranches of 2.5% each with the first being donated on the effective date of the transaction with the second tranche being 
donated 12 months after the effective date date. The fair value of these instruments granted has been determined with direct 
reference to the purchase price of the interests purchased.

2020 2019
Share based payment recognised in profit and loss as a result of disposal of
subsidiaries. 33 966 -

FRESHMARK SYSTEMS PROPRIETARY LIMITED
Freshmark systems’ principle place of business is South Africa and is owned 55% by the Group. The table below is a summary 
of Freshmark Systems’ financial information.

MUBESKO AFRICA PROPRIETARY LIMITED
Mubesko’s principal place of business is South Africa. During the year the group disposed of its 50% interest in Mubesko for 
a consideration of R43.1 million. Refer to note 36 for more detail.

Figures in R’000 2020 2019
Non-current assets 22 208 17 207
Current assets 7 046 3 711
Non-Current liabilities 6 813 6 998
Current liabilities 2 886 2 746
Accumulated non-controlling interest included in the statement of profit and loss 11 561 10 764

Revenue 19 475 17 745
Profit for the year 4 971 1 953
Profit for the year allocated to non-controlling interest 2 237 879
Dividends paid to non-controlling interest 1 440 2 755

Figures in R’000 2020 2019
Non-current assets - 1 239
Current assets - 53 679
Non-Current liabilities -     -
Current liabilities - 4 209
Accumulated non-controlling interest included in the statement of profit and loss - 25 584

Revenue - 58 868
Profit for the year - 11 238
Profit for the year allocated to non-controlling interest - 5 619
Dividends paid to non-controlling interest - -

16. NON-CONTROLLING INTEREST
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USC METERING PROPRIETARY LIMITED
During the year the group initially acquired the balance of the minority interest in USC for a consideration of R20 million taken 
the ownership from 83% to 100%, this resulted in a transaction with owners without a change in control and was accounted for 
in equity to the value R21 million. Subsequent to this the group of disposed of 57.5% of its interest in USC for a consideration 
of R355 million. Refer to note 35 for more detail. USC’s principal place of business is South Africa.

Figures in R’000 2020 2019
Non-current assets - 76 517
Current assets - 72 540
Non-Current liabilities - 13 074
Current liabilities - 28 997
Accumulated non-controlling interest included in the statement of profit and loss - 14 921

Revenue - 206 517
Profit for the year - 5 034
Profit for the year allocated to non-controlling interest - 839
Dividends paid to non-controlling interest - -

Figures in R’000 2020 2019
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
IFRS 16 Lease Liabilities 3 389 -
Instalment sale liabilities - 881

3 389 881

CURRENT LIABILITIES
IFRS 16 Lease Liabilities 11 080 -
Instalment sale liabilities 64 3 991
Other borrowings 50 502 1 761
R-data (Pty) Ltd 10 515 -

72 161 5 752

TOTAL OTHER FINANCIAL LIABILITIES 75 550 6 633

Interest bearing borrowings 75 550 4 872
Non-interest bearing borrowings - 1 761

75 550 6 633

The fair value of other financial liabilities have been assessed taking into account their respective interest rates and maturity 
periods and due to the shorter term to maturity and the variability of the interest rates none of the fair values differ materially 
from the corresponding carrying values.

OTHER BORROWINGS
Other borrowings relate to loans from shareholders that were advanced to finance short term working capital requirements. 
The loans are unsecured, bare interest at prime and should be repaid within the next financial year. Refer to note 41 for further 
detail.

IFRS 16 LEASE LIABILITIES
Finance lease liabilities presented above relate exclusively to the right of use assets disclosed in note 6.

At 31 March 2020 the group had not committed to any leases which had not commenced.

17. OTHER FINANCIAL LIABILITIES
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The lease liabilities are secured by the related underlying assets and the undiscounted maturity analysis related to these lease
liabilities are disclosed in note 37.2. For interest expense in relation to leasing liabilities, refer to finance cost note 27.

INSTALMENT SALE LIABILITIES
Liabilities under instalment sale agreements are repayable over periods between two and five years, at an average effective 
rate of 8.5%.  These liabilities  are secured by motor  vehicles  and plant and equipment  with  a carrying  value  of R 0.4 million 
(2019: R1.6 million).

MINIMUM PAYMENTS UNDER FINANCE LEASES AND INSTALMENT SALE LIABILITIES:

Figures in R’000 2020 2019
No later than one year - 3 345
Later than one year no later than five years - 3 023

- 6 368
Future finance charges - (1 496)
Present value of  instalment sale liabilities - 4 872

Figures in R’000 2020 2019
RECONCILIATION OF DEFERRED VENDOR PAYMENTS:
Balance at the beginning of the year 7 473 15 137
Acquisition of subsidiaries (refer to note 34) - 1 168
Repayment of vendors through the distribution of cash resources (459) (2 959)
Interest accrued - 709
Remeasurement of fair value liability - (6 582)
Balance at the end of the year 7 014 7 473

Current liabilities 7 014 7 473

THE DEFERRED VENDOR PAYMENTS WILL BE SETTLED AS FOLLOWS:
Through the issue of shares - -
Through the distribution of cash resources 7 014 7 473

7 014 7 473

R-DATA PROPRIETARY LIMITED
The  loan  arose  during  the  periods  in  which  the  business  was  controlled.  Refer  to  note  36  for  detail  around  the  
respective disposal.  While  the  transaction  remains  contingent  on  the  achievement  of  performance  targets,  the  loan  
would  not  be transferred. The loan is unsecured, repayable in the ordinary course of business and bears interest at prime.

18. DEFERRED VENDOR PAYMENTS
The amount due to vendors represents the balance of the purchase consideration owing in respect of acquisitions. The loans 
are settled through the issue of shares and cash resources on achievement of profit warranties. Deferred vendor payments are 
recognised when there is a reasonable expectation that the predetermined profit warranties will be achieved.

The fair value of the deferred vendor payments are calculated in accordance with the contractual terms of the purchase. These
are set profit warranties that have been already been achieved and hence no changes to the fair value have been necessitated.
The deferred vendor payments have not been settled as yet, as a dispute has arisen with the seller as it relates to the total
amount due.
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RECONCILIATION OF DEFERRED TAX:
Balance at beginning of year (81 034) (41 591)
Movements consisting of:
Temporary differences recognised in profit and loss:
Allowances on intangible assets (13 005) (30 554)
Tax losses 45 306 (3 665)
Working capital allowances (2 785) 3 308
Provisions, accruals and other allowances (2 300) 1 884
Prior year adjustments 128 (10 416)
Financial assets delayed CGT (273 414) -
Foreign currency translation differences - -
Disposal of subsidiaries 62 060 -
Reallocated to assets held for sale - -
Balance at end of year (265 044) (81 034)

THE DEFERRED TAX ASSET AND LIABILITY ARISES FROM THE FOLLOWING 
TEMPORARY DIFFERENCES:
Property, plant and equipment - 15
Intangible assets (7 975) (113 280)
Financial assets (273 414) -
Contract liabilities 645 2 858
Provisions 775 14 330
Lease straight lining accrual - 2 042
IFRS 16 Lease liabilities 1 045 -
Assessed loss 13 880 13 001

(265 044) (81 034)

Deferred tax assets 5 196 13 641
Deferred tax liabilities (270 240) (94 675)

(265 044) (81 034)

19. DEFERRED TAX ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

The directors assessed that the deferred tax assets will be recovered based on profitability forecasts, the estimations that were
made  in  this  regard  were  the  accuracy  of  prior  year  forecasts  and  the  achievement  thereof,  macro  economic  factors  
in determining  growth  rates  of  the  business  units  and  current  events  that  impact  on  future  forecasts.  Management  
has  stress tested these inputs by decreasing the forecasts by 10% and not indentified any triggers that suggest the deferred 
tax assets are not recoverable.

20. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

Figures in R’000 2020 2019
Trade creditors 32 610 61 153
Accrued expenses 2 224 8 315
Leave pay accrual 1 211 7 651
Contract Liabilities 2 304 10 491
Lease straightlining accrual - 7 294
Payroll accruals 4 087 18 234
Sundry creditors 1 524 3 725

43 960 116 863

NOTES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS
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ITEMS INCLUDED IN TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES NOT CLASSIFIED AS FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Figures in R’000 2020 2019
Lease smoothing accrual - 7 294
Contract Liabilities 2 304 10 491
Leave pay accrual 1 211 7 651
Payroll accruals 2 304 15 321

5 819 40 757

TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES NET OF NON-FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS  
(REFER NOTE 37) 38 141 76 106

Creditors  and  accruals  principally  comprise  amounts  outstanding  for  trade  purchases  and  ongoing  costs.  The  average  
credit period taken is less than 60 days. Due to the short term nature of the trade payables, the carrying value represents the 
fair value of the trade payables.

Employees’  entitlement  to  annual  leave  is  recognised  when  it  accrues  to  employees.  An  accrual  is  made  for  the  
estimated liability for annual leave due as a result of services rendered by employees up to Statement of financial position 
date.

CURRENCIES
The carrying amounts of trade and other payables are mainly denominated in South African Rand with amounts denominated
in other currencies not deemed to give rise to a material forex risk.

Figures in R’000 2020 2019
CURRENT TAX IN THE STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION REPRESENTS:
CURRENT YEAR
Provision for tax for the year (7 134) (92 301)
Provisional tax paid 10 482 18 762
PRIOR YEARS
Provision for tax relating to previous years (73 075) 64
Final tax payments/(refunds) during the year relating to previous years 36 146 2 179
(Under)/over provision in prior years accounted for in current year 2 166 (1 637)
Interest and penalties received/(incurred) (8 898) (142)
OTHER
Disposal of subsidiaries (6 852) -

(47 165) (73 075)
Tax receivable 3 718 6 681
Tax payable (50 883) (79 756)

(47 165) (73 075)

Total tax payments 46 628 20 941

21. CURRENT TAX RECEIVABLE/(PAYABLE)
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22. COMMITMENTS

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS
There were no capital expenditure contracted for at the reporting date which have not yet been incurred and recognised in 
the financial statements.

2019
OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENTS
The  company  leases  various  assets  under  non-cancellable  operating  lease  agreements.  The  leases  have  varying  terms  
and escalation clauses. The lease expenditure charged to profit and loss is disclosed in note 25.

The future aggregate minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases are as follows:

Figures in R’000 2020 2019
Not later than one year - 19 744
Later than one year and not later than five years - 20 709
Later than five years -  -

- 40 453

CONTINGENCIES
The Group has contingent liabilities in respect of bank and other guarantees and other matters arising in the ordinary course 
of business. It is not anticipated that any material liabilities will arise from contingent liabilities.

REVENUE RECOGNISED IN RELATION TO CONTRACT LIABILITIES
The  following  table  shows  how  much  of  the  revenue  recognised  in  the  current  reporting  period  relates  to  carried  
forward contract  liabilities.  Contract  liabilities  relate  only  to  performance  obligations  linked  to  software  licenses  with  
support  and maintenance, these performance obligations are expected to recognised as revenue in the next financial year. A 
number of the groups  customers  pay  upfront  for  software  licenses  and  the  associated  services,  generarlly  these  are  
paid  for  in  arrears  in accordance with the customers approved credit terms.

Figures in R’000 2020 2019
Sale of goods 16 830 5 037
Services rendered 144 580 146 618

161 410 151 655

DISAGGREGATION OF REVENUE
MAJOR PRODUCT LINES OVER TIME
Software license with support and maintenance 11 121 10 537

11 121 10 537

MAJOR PRODUCT LINES AT A POINT IN TIME 1 652 7 853
Consulting 131 807 128 228
Support Services 16 830 5 037
Goods 150 289 141 118

TOTAL REVENUE FROM CONTRACTS WITH CUSTOMERS 161 410 151 655

23. REVENUE FROM CONTRACTS WITH CUSTOMERS

Figures in R’000 2020 2019
Opening Balance 10 491 8 449
Movement for the year (8 187) 2 042
CLOSING BALANCE 2 304 10 491
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Figures in R’000 2020 2019
(Loss)/ Profit on sale of property, plant and equipment 88 (1 036)
(Loss)/profit on foreign exchange (300) (2 309)
(Loss)/profit on sale of subsidiaries - 302 473
Government grants on learnerships - 982
Re-measurement of deferred vendor payments - 6 583
Rent received 521 335
Sundry income 643 13

952 307 041

24. OTHER NET INCOME/(EXPENSES)

Figures in R’000 2020 2019
Employee compensation and benefit expense 65 163 63 907
Operating lease charges - premises - 12 775
Operating lease charges - equipment and other - 298
Motor vehicle expenses 375 577
Repairs and maintenance 492 593
Telephone and fax 1 250 207
Security 451 364
Insurance 493 203
Computer expense 5 082 4 168
Advertising expense 1 694 2 438
Audit fees 1 412 1 075
Courier and postage 95 67
Depreciation and amortisation 18 532 5 294
Printing and stationary 355 598
Travel - Local 2 042 2 284
Travel - International 366 -
Consulting fees 5 742 4 955
Electricity 3 193 3 047
Bank charges 401 352
Legal fees 2 396 334
Administration and management fee 106 107
Movement in credit loss allowance 63 880 (1 968)
Cleaning 279 85
Sponsorship, enterprise development and donations 227 215
Entertainment 751 1 105
Fines and penalties 180 -
Impairments 10 188 599
Share based payments 34 239 1 169
Other 7 249 72

226 633 104 920

Administration expenses 226 258 104 343
Distribution expenses 375 577

226 633 104 920

25. EXPENDITURE BY NATURE
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Figures in R’000 2020 2019
Bank 3 151 5 459
Trade receivables - 69
Tax Receivable 195 75
Deferred vendor assets 11 808 -

15 154 5 603

Figures in R’000 2020 2019
CURRENT TAX
Current year 2 148 81 339
Prior year (1 553) 1 084

DEFERRED TAX
Current year (31 194) 21 031
Prior year (129) -

(30 728) 103 454

RECONCILIATION OF RATE OF TAX
% 2020 2019
South African normal tax rate 28.00 28.00
Adjusted for:
Income not subject to tax 1,80 (33,60)
Expenses not deductible for tax (10,90) 5,50
Current tax - prior year adjustment 1,00 0,60
Deferred tax - prior year adjustment 0,10 5,40
Capital gains tax due to disposal of businesses (note 36) 0,00 50,70
Net reduction (8,00) 28,60

Effective rate of tax 20,00 56,60

26. FINANCE INCOME

Figures in R’000 2020 2019
Other financial liabilities 4 908 3 927
Bank overdrafts and acceptances - 70
Taxes 8 887 324
Deferred vendor payments - 709
IFRS 16 Leases 2 297 -

16 092 5 030

27. FINANCE COSTS

28. INCOME TAX EXPENSE
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29. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS

WATER GROUP (COLLECTIVELY USC METERING AND AMANZI METERS)
During the year the group disposed of 57.5% of its interest in USC and Amanzi respectively for a consideration of R388 million. 
Refer to note 36 for more detail.

SOFTWARE GROUP (COLLECTIVELY SEBATA MUNICIPAL SOLUTIONS, R-DATA AND MICROMEGA ACCOUNTING 
AND PROFESSIONAL SERVICES)
During  the  year  the  group   disposed  of  57.5%  of  its  interest  in  Sebata,  R-data  ad  MAPS  respectively  for  a  
consideration  of R501.9 million. Refer to note 36 for more detail.

IPES-UTILITY MANAGEMENT SERVICES (PTY) LTD
During the year the group  disposed of 100% of its interest in UMS for a consideration of R43 million. Refer to note 36 for 
more detail.

MUBESKO AFRICA (PTY) LTD
During the year the group disposed of its interest of 50% in Mubesko for a consideration of R43 million. Refer to note 36 for 
more detail.

The following table details the results of these discontinued operations included in the group statement of profit and loss:

2020 Water Group Software
Group UMS Mubesko Total

Figures in R’000
REVENUE 160 580 246 101 74 806 5 157 486 644
Cost of sales (91 978) (100 834) (43 102) (1 218) (237 132)
GROSS PROFIT 68 602 145 267 31 704 3 939 249 512
Other net income/(expenses) 364 (2 847) 256 - (2 227)
Distribution expenses (589) (2 596) (1 206) - (4 391)
Administration expenses (47 890) (238 914) (34 174) (2 747) (323 725)
OPERATING PROFIT 20 487 (99 090) (3 420) 1 192 (80 831)
Finance income 54 3 635 55 72 3 816
Finance cost (1 776) (2 824) (938) - (5 538)
PROFIT BEFORE TAX 18 765 (98 279) (4 303) 1 264 (82 553)
Tax expense (4 014) 13 954 867 (354) 10 453
PROFIT FROM DISCONTINUED 
OPERATIONS

14 751 (84 325) (3 436) 910 (72 100)

PROFIT FROM DISCONTINUED 
OPERATIONS ATTRIBUTABLE TO:
Owners of the parent 13 843 (84 325) (3 436) 455 (73 463)
Non-controlling interest 908 - - 455 1 363

14 751 (84 325) (3 436) 910 (72 100)

PROFIT OR OR LOSS ON DISPOSAL OF 
DISCONTINUED OPERATION:

447 365 548 736 5 515 (2 522) 999 094

Tax expense (116 959) (170 116) (2 651) (3 517) (293 243)
NET PROFIT OR LOSS ON DISPOSAL OF 
DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS

330 406 378 620 2 864 (6 039) 705 851



Sebata Holdings Annual Consolidated Financial Statements For The Year Ended 2020 56

The following table details the cash flow of these discontinued operations included in the Group cash flow statement:

Figures in R’000 2020 2019
Cash flow from operating activities 44 037 10 443
Cash flow from investing activities (22 796) (61 151)
Cash flow from financing activities (42 864) 30 929

2019 Water Group Software
Group UMS Mubesko Total

Figures in R’000
REVENUE 225 002 195 803 120 582 58 867 600 254
Cost of sales (149 653) (80 397) (67 705) (14 126) (311 881)
GROSS PROFIT 75 349 115 406 52 877 44 741 288 373
Other net income/(expenses) 58 2 021 201 39 2 319
Distribution expenses (640) (1 848) (1 396) (3) (3 887)
Administration expenses (71 260) (134 142) (41 429) (31 206) (278 037)
OPERATING PROFIT 3 507 (18 563) 10 253 13 571 8 768
Finance income 259 337 - 2 080 2 676
Finance cost (240) (1 122) (931) - (2 293)
PROFIT BEFORE TAX 3 526 (19 348) 9 322 15 651 9 151
Tax expense (1 107) (21 732) (2 677) (4 413) (29 929)
PROFIT FROM DISCONTINUED 
OPERATIONS

2 419 (41 080) 6 645 11 238 (20 778)

PROFIT FROM DISCONTINUED 
OPERATIONS ATTRIBUTABLE TO:
Owners of the parent 2 526 (41 080) 6 645 5 619 (26 290)
Non-controlling interest (107) - - 5 619 5 512

2 419 (41 080) 6 645 11 238 (20 778)

NOTES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS
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* Resigned 31 October 2018
** Appointed 31 October 2018
*** Resigned 12 October 2018
**** Appointed 29 July 2019
***** Appointed 12 September 2019

Name

Figures R'000

Number 
of share 
options 

available - 
2020

Number 
of share 
options 

available - 
2019  Salary 

Bonuses and 
performance 

related 
payments 

 Directors 
fees  Total 2020  Total 2019 

IG Morris - - 1 140 - - 1 140 1 175
C Kemp * - - - - - - 1 466
C King 100 000 100 000  2 520 - - 2 520 2 812
P van Eeden ** 39 474 39 474 1 540 500 - 2 040 425
DA Di Siena - - - - 195 195 182
GE Jacobs *** - - - - - - 112
RC Lewin - - - - 180 180 168
PH Duvenhage - - - - 195 195 182
TW Hamill - - - - 188 188 175
D Passmore - - - - 240 240 189
K Moses***** - - 893 - 165 1 058 -
S Nodwele **** - - - - 165 165 -
Members of key 
management 44 894 433 228 15 010 - - 15 010 21 731

184 368 572 702 21 103 500 1 328 22 931 28 617

30. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS

31. EARNINGS PER SHARE
The calculation of earnings per ordinary share for continuing operations of (110.72) cents (2019: 154.87 cents) is based on 
the earnings   attributable   to   ordinary   shareholders   of   (R125.2   million)   (2019:   R177.5   million)   and   a   weighted   
average   of 113,130,068 (2019: 114,628,694) ordinary shares in issue throughout the year.

The calculation of earnings per ordinary share for discontinued operations of 558.99 cents (2019: (22.93) cents) is based on the 
earnings attributable to ordinary shareholders of R632.4 million (2019: (R26.2 million) and a weighted average of 113,130,068 
(2019: 114,628,694) ordinary shares in issue throughout the year.

The calculation of diluted earnings per ordinary share for continuing operations of (110.66) cents (2019: 154.87 cents) is based 
on  earnings  attributable  to  ordinary  shareholders  of  (R125.2  million)  (2019:  R177.5  million)  and  a  weighted  average  
of 113,191,670 (2019: 114,723,057) ordinary shares in issue throughout the year.

The calculation of diluted earnings per ordinary share for discontinued operations of 558.69 cents (2019: (22.92) cents) is 
based on  earnings  attributable  to  ordinary  shareholders  of  R632.4  million  (2019:  (R26.2  Million)  and  a  weighted  
average  of 113,191,670(2019: 114,723,057) ordinary shares in issue throughout the year.

RECONCILIATION BETWEEN WEIGHTED AVERAGE NUMBER OF ORDINARY SHARES AND DILUTED WEIGHTED 
AVERAGE NUMBER OF ORDINARY SHARES:

Figures in R’000 2020 2019
Weighted average ordinary shares 113 130 068 114 628 694
Share options 61 602 94 363
Weighted average diluted ordinary shares 113 191 670 114 723 057
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Profit before 
tax

Taxation Non-
controlling 

interest

 Net Profit  Net Profit 

Figures R'000 2020  2020  2020  2020  2019

CONTINUING OPERATIONS
Profit attributable to owners of the 
parent (153 572) 30 728 (2 410) (125 254) 177 523
Loss/(profit)  on disposal of property, 
plant and equipment (88) 25 - (63) 746
Impairment of intangible assets 10 188 - - 10 188 -
Loss/(profit) on disposal of investments 
in subsidiaries and businesses - - - - (186 510)
Recognition of investments in 
associates - - - - -

(143 472) 30 753 (2 410) (115 129) (8 241)

DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS
Profit attributable to owners of the 
parent 916 541 (282 790) (1 363) 632 388 (26 290)
Loss/(profit) on disposal of property, 
plant and equipment (763) 214 - (549) (76)
Impairment of intangible assets 67 449 - - 67 449 -
Loss/(profit) on disposal of 
discontinued operations (999 094) 293 243 - (705 851) -

(15 867) 10 667 (1 363) (6 563) (26 366)
 

RECONCILIATION BETWEEN EARNINGS AND HEADLINE EARNINGS:

The weighted average number of shares is the number of shares outstanding at the beginning of the period, adjusted for any 
additional shares issued during the period, appropriately weighted for the time the shares are outstanding. Furthermore, any 
treasury shares held by the group are deducted from this amount.

The  calculation  of  headline  earnings  per  share  for  continuing  operations  of  (101.77)  cents  (2019:  (7.19)  cents)  is  based  
on earnings of (R115.1) million (2019: (R8.2) million) and a weighted average of 113,130,068 (2019: 114,628,694) ordinary 
shares in issue throughout the year.

The calculation of headline earnings per share for discontinued operations of (5.80) cents (2019: (23.00) cents) is based on the 
earnings of (R6.5 million) (2019: (R26.3 Million) and a weighted average of 113,130,068 (2019: 114,628,694) ordinary shares in 
issue throughout the year.

The calculation of diluted headline earnings per share from continuing operations of (101.71) cents (2019: (7.18) cents) is 
based on  earnings  of  (R115.1  million)  (2019:  (R8.2  million))  and  a  weighted  average  of  113,191,670  (2019:  114,723,057)  
ordinary shares in issue throughout the year.

The calculation of diluted headline earnings per share for discontinued operations of (5.79) cents (2019: (22.98) cents) is based 
on the earnings of (R6.5 million) (2019: (R26.3 Million) and a weighted average of 113,191,670 (2019: 114,723,057) ordinary 
shares in issue throughout the year.
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Figures in R’000 2020 2019

Profit before tax from continuing operations (153 572) 291 529
Profit before tax from discontinued operations 916 541 -
Adjusted for:
Share of profit from equity accounted associates 2 098 (1 896)
Depreciation and amortisation 56 380 34 424
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment 851 930
Impairment of intangible assets 77 637 15
Loss/(profit) on disposal of subsidiaries (999 094) (302 473)
Impairment of loans receivable 61 573 -
Adjustment to acquisition vendors - (6 582)
Share-based payment expense 39 043 1 362
Finance income (17 713) (7 831)
Finance costs 28 688 6 875

MOVEMENT IN WORKING CAPITAL
Increase in inventories 14 566 (21 174)
Decrease/ (Increase) in trade and other receivables 22 440 62 646
(Decrease)/ Increase in trade and other payables 34 276 (60 392)

83 714 (2 567)

32. CASH GENERATED FROM OPERATIONS

33. CASH FLOW ON ACQUISITION OF PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

34. CASH FLOW ON OTHER FINANCIAL LIABILITIES

Figures in R’000 2020 2019
Total additions to property, plant and equipment 9 233 10 694
Less: acquired property, plant and equipment financed (1 505) (715)
Cash outflow on additions to property, plant and equipment 7 728 9 979

Figures in R’000 2020 2019

MOVEMENT ON OTHER FINANCIAL LIABILITES
Other borrowings raised Cash flow 71 885 -
Purchase of property, plant and equipment Non-cash flow 1 505 715
Repayment of instalment sale liabilities Cash flow (23 119) (31 147)
Repayment of borrowings raised Cash flow (31 772) -
Interest accrued Non-cash flow 7 042 4 951

25 541 (25 481)
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The  goodwill  is  attributable  to  the  workforce  acquired  and  the  significant  synergies  expected  to  arise  after  the  group’s
acquisition of the acquired subsidiaries.

The amount due to vendors represents the balance of the purchase consideration owing in respect of acquisitions. Refer to 
note 18.

36. DISPOSAL OF BUSINESSES

Cash flows from disposals of businesses are shown net of cash disposed of.

2020
WATER GROUP (USC METERING AND AMANZI METERS)
On  20  August  2019,  the  group  announced  that  it  had  entered  into  Sale  of  Shares  Agreements,  Donation  Agreements  
and Shareholders’ Agreements with Inzalo Capital Holdings (“Inzalo”), for the disposal of 55% of the total issued share capital 
in Amanzi  Meters  Proprietary  Limited  (“Amanzi  Meters”)  and  USC  Metering  Proprietary  Limited  (“USC  Metering”)  
and  the donation of 5% of the total issued share capital in each of such companies to Inzalo for an aggregate purchase 
consideration of R388 484 000. The purchase price is payable on the achievement of a net profit after tax of R165 million over 
the 24 month period from the effective date, with the effective date of the transaction being 1 August 2019. the donation 
shares are donated in two tranches of 2.5% each, with the first being donated as at the effective date and the second tranche 
being donated 12 months after the effective date.   If the profit warranty is not met the sale shares will be returned to Sebata 
and Sebata will have an obligation to repurchase the donation shares at the growth in the net asset value of the business per 
share.

The shareholders approved the transaction via a general meeting and formal vote on 22 January 2020. Although the formal 
vote to approve the transaction  only took place in January 2020 the date control was lost was deemed to be 30 November 
2019. This was due to the fact that the boards of USC and Amanzi had been reconstituted to hand over irrevocable operational 

Figures in R’000 Sharepoint 
Garage Total

Goodwill 1 168 1 168
Purchase consideration  1 168  1 168
Shares issued - -
Deferred vendor payments (1 168) (1 168)
Cash acquired - -
Net cash flow from acquisitions - -

NET CASH FLOWS FROM ACQUISITIONS  

35. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS

2019
SHAREPOINT GARAGE PROPRIETARY LIMITED (“SHAREPOINT GARAGE”)
On 1 October 2018, the group acquired 100% of the intellectual property, assumed the staff and assumed identified liabilities 
in the form of deferred vendor payments of Sharepoint Garage for a consideration  of R1.168 million.  Goodwill  to the value 
of R1.168 million was accounted for.

Sharepoint Garage specialises in the implementation of bespoke solutions encompassing the entire Microsoft suite of products 
with  special  focus  to  integrated  business  intelligence  and  analytics  solutions  along  with  complex  Microsoft  Sharepoint 
migrations.  The  staff  absorbed  and  the  complex  business  process  associated  in  implementing  these  solutions  have  
been assessed by management in determining that the acquisition qualifies to be treated in terms of IFRS3.

Sharepoint Garage contributed revenue of R1.2 million and loss after tax of R1.08 million since the acquisition date.
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control to Inzalo, with both the Chairman and CEO being appointed by Inzalo, and represents the new shareholding structure. 
Further to this all other suspensive conditions had been fulfilled and the formal general meeting approving the transaction 
was deemed  to  be  an  administrate  function  as  Sebata  had  already  received  irrevocable  undertakings  from  77%  of  
shareholders supporting  the  transaction.  The  irrevocable  undertakings  are  structured  such  that  they  are  unable  to  be  
withdrawn  once handed over to Sebata.

The transaction resulted in a loss of control as at 30 November 2019, the present valuing of the purchase price at the groups 
incremental borrowing rate of prime, a share based payment for the donation shares of R14.9 million and derecognition of 
net assets of R133.7 million. This has resulted in a profit on disposal of R191.8 million.  In determining this it has management 
has assessed  that  the  profit  targets  will  be  met,  management  has  assessed  the  forecasts  presented  the  probability  
of  these forecasts  being  achieved,  representation  from  the  new  shareholders  along  with  current  restructuring  of  the  
business  in determining that the targets would be met.

The remaining 42.5% and 17.5% interests in USC and Amanzi respectively has been remeasured at R246.3 million and R10.1 
million respectively and recorded as an associate. The remaining interest in the respective companies has been measured at 
fair value and with direct reference to the price at which the interests were disposed at. Although the interest held in Amanzi is 
below 20% it is still deemed to be an associate company. Sebata has assessed that due to the small pool of shareholders, the 
fat that Sebata still enjoys board representation and the fact that Sebata still has influence over the operations of the business 
that Amanzi would still be considered to be an associate company.

SOFTWARE GROUP (SEBATA MUNICIPAL SOLUTIONS, R-DATA AND MICROMEGA ACCOUNTING AND 
PROFESSIONAL SERVICES)
On  25  February  2020  the  group  announced  that  it  had  entered  into  Sale  of  Shares  Agreements,  Donation  Agreements  
and Shareholders’ Agreements with Inzalo Capital Holdings (“Inzalo”), for the disposal of 55% of the total issued share capital 
in Sebata  Municipal  Solutions  Proprietary  Limited  (“Sebata  Municipal”),  R-data  Proprietary  Limited  (“R-data”)  and  
Micromega Accounting and Professional Services Proprietary Limited (“MAPS”) and the donation of 5% of the total issued 
share capital in each  of  such  companies  to  Inzalo  for  an  aggregate  purchase  consideration  of  R501.9.  The  purchase  
price  is  payable  on  the achievement of an earnings before interest, tax, depreciation and amortisation of R80 million over 
the 24 month period from the effective date, with the effective date of the transaction being 1 February 2020. The donation 
shares are donated in two tranches of 2.5% each, with the first being donated as at the effective date and the second tranche 
being donated 12 months after the effective date.   If the profit warranty is not met the sale shares will be returned to Sebata 
and Sebata will have an obligation to repurchase the donation shares at the growth in the net asset value of the business per 
share.

The shareholders approved the transaction via a general meeting and formal vote on 15 July 2020. Although the formal vote 
to approve the transaction only took place in July 2020 the date control was lost was deemed to be 31 March 2020. This was 
due to the fact that the boards of Sebata, R-data and MAPS had been reconstituted to hand over irrevocable operational 
control to Inzalo, with both the Chairman and CEO being appointed by Inzalo, and represents the new shareholding structure. 
Further to this all other suspensive conditions had been fulfilled and the formal general meeting approving the transaction was 
deemed to be an administrative function as Sebata had already received irrevocable undertakings from 80% of shareholders 
supporting the transaction. The irrevocable undertakings are structured such that they are unable to be withdrawn once 
handed over to Sebata.

The  transaction  resulted  in  a  loss  of  control  as  at  31  March  2020,  the  present  valuing  of  the  purchase  price  at  the  
groups incremental borrowing rate of prime, a share based payment for the donation shares of R19 million and derecognition 
of net assets of R211.5 million. This has resulted in a profit on disposal of R206.6 million. In determining this it has management 
has assessed  that  the  profit  targets  will  be  met,  management  has  assessed  the  forecasts  presented  the  probability  
of  these forecasts  being  achieved,  representation  from  the  new  shareholders  along  with  current  restructuring  of  the  
business  in determining that the targets would be met.

NOTES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS
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The remaining 42.5% interests in the companies  has been remeasured at R352m and recorded as an associate.  The remaining 
interest  in  the  respective  companies  has  been  measured  at  fair  value  and  with  direct  reference  to  the  price  at  which  
the interests were disposed at.

IPES-UTILITY MANAGEMENT SERVICES
On 1 February 2020 the group disposed of 100% of its interest in UMS to USC Metering for a consideration of R43 million. 
The purchase is payable as follows, on achievement by UMS of a significantly improved net profit after tax target of R10 
million for the  first  12-month  period  ending  31  January  2021,  based  on  the  finalised  management  accounts  of  UMS  
for  the  period  in question and in the form of 36 equal monthly payments in respect of the Capital Amount and accrued 
interest thereon at the prime interest rate compounded monthly from the Effective Date, over the 36-month period beginning  
1 July 2021 and ending 30 June 2024. The transaction has resulted in the derecognition of net assets of R37.5 million and the 
recognition of a profit on disposal of R5.5 million.

MUBESKO AFRICA
On 31 May 2019, the group disposed of its’ 50% interest in Mubesko Africa Proprietary Limited (“Mubesko”) for a consideration 
of R 43.1 million, this was settled with R20 million in cash and the settlement of group debt owed to Mubesko of R23.1 million. 
The disposal wad for the group’s full interest in Mubesko and resulted in the derecognition of net assets to the value of R28.6 
million and goodwill to the value of R20.7 million.

NET CASH FLOWS FROM DISPOSALS

Figures R'000 Water Group
Software 

Group UMS
Mubesko 

Africa  Total 

Property, plant and equipment 12 523 12 748 4 277 1 227 30 775
Intangible assets 72 867 366 073 - - 438 940
Goodwill 22 441 21 549 25 656 20 722 90 368
Investments - 577 - - 577
Inventories 53 635 831 - - 54 466
Trade and other receivables 29 026 79 446 23 136 18 339 149 947
Cash and cash equivalents (19 709) (15 613) 1 896 12 319 (21 107)
Trade and other payables (18 414) (69 455) (8 412) (3 694) (99 975)
Other financial liabilities (16 416) (128 451) (12 460) - (157 327)
Deferred tax (6 906) (57 863) 2 238 471 (62 060)
Tax receivable/(payable) 4 648 1 687 1 154 (637) 6 852
Total net assets disposed 133 695 211 529 37 485 48 747 431 456
Profit/(loss) on disposal 447 365 548 736 5 515 (2 522) 999 094
Investment in associate measured at 
fair value (255 530) (342 118) - - (597 648)

Non-controlling interest 3 541 - - (26 225) (22 684)
Consideration 329 071 418 144 43 000 20 000 810 218
Cash disposed 19 709 15 613 (1 896) (12 319) 21 107
Deferred payment (329 071) (418 144) (43 000) - (790 215)
Net cash flow from disposals 19 709 15 613 (1 896) 7 681 41 110

2019

NOSA GROUP
On  3  April  2018,  the  group  disposed  of  its  interests  in  the  NOSA  Group  of  companies  for  a  consideration  of  R625.7  
million, which resulted in a loss of control. This event resulted in the derecognition of net assets of R373.9million, which is 
included in the profit on disposal of R306 million.

NOTES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS



Sebata Holdings Annual Consolidated Financial Statements For The Year Ended 2020 63

NET CASH FLOWS FROM DISPOSALS

Figures R'000 NOSA Group  Total 

Assets held for sale 501 463 501 463
Liabilities held for sale - -
Total net assets disposed     501 463 501 463
Profit on disposal 306 058 306 058
Foreign currency translation reserve - -
Non-controlling interests (22 684) (22 684)
Consideration 784 837 784 837
Deferred payment (29 371) (29 371)
Net cash flow from disposal 755 466 755 466

Figures R'000

Financial 
assets held 

at amortised 
cost

Total

2020
Other financial assets 987 843 987 843
Trade and other receivables 32 359 32 359
Cash and cash equivalents 14 734 14 734

1 034 936 1 034 936

2019
Other financial assets 79 854 79 854
Trade and other receivables 215 248 215 248
Cash and cash equivalents 41 672 41 672

336 774 336 774

37. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The group has classified its financial assets in the following categories:

Figures R'000

Financial 
liabilities at

fair value 
through

profit or loss

Loans
payable at
amortised

cost

Total

2020
Other financial liabilities - 75 550 75 550
Deferred vendor payments 7 014 - 7 014
Trade and other payables - 38 141 38 141
Bank overdraft - 863 863

7 014 114 554 121 568

2019
Other financial liabilities - 6 633 6 633
Deferred vendor payments 7 473 - 7 473
Trade and other payables - 76 106 76 106
Bank overdraft - 22 546 22 546

7 473 105 285 112 758

The group has classified its financial liabilities in the following categories:
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38. RISK MANAGEMENT

OVERVIEW
The Group has exposure to the following risks from its use of financial instruments:
• credit risk
• liquidity risk
• currency risk
• interest rate risk

This  note  presents  information  about  the  group’s  exposure  to  each  of  the  above  risks,  the  group’s  objectives,  
policies  and processes  for  measuring  and  managing  risk,  and  the  group’s  management  of  capital.  Further  quantitative  
disclosures  are included throughout these financials.

The directors have overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight for the group’s risk management framework. The
directors are responsible for developing and monitoring the group’s risk management policies.

The group’s risk management policies are established to identify and analyse the risk faced by the group, to set appropriate 
risk limits and controls, and to monitor risks and adherence to limits. Risk management policies and systems are reviewed 
regularly.

The Board  oversees  how management  monitors  compliance  with  the  group’s  risk  management  policies  and procedures  
and reviews the adequacy of the risk management framework in relation to the risks faced by the group.

CREDIT RISK
Credit  risk  is  the  risk  of  financial  loss  to  the  group  if  a  customer  or  counterparty  to  a  financial  instrument  fails  to  
meet  its contractual obligations, and arises principally from the group’s trade receivables from customers and deposits with 
banks.

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
Customer  credit  risk  is  managed  by  each  business  unit  subject  to  the  Group’s  established  policy,  procedures  and  
control relating  to  customer  credit  risk  management.  Credit  quality  of  a  customer  is  assessed  based  on  individual  
credit  limits  and historical  default  rates.  Outstanding  customer  receivables  are  regularly  monitored  to  ensure  exposure  
to  credit  risk  is maintained within the defined parameters.

An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting date using a provision matrix to measure expected credit losses. The 
provision  rates  are  based  on  days  past  due  for  groupings  of  various  customer  segments  with  similar  loss  patterns.  The 
calculation reflects the probability-weighted outcome, the time value of money and reasonable and supportable information 
that  is  available  at  the  reporting  date  about  past  events,  current  conditions  and  forecasts  of  future  economic  
conditions. Generally, trade receivables are written-off if there is an indication that these are impaired. The maximum exposure 
to credit risk at the reporting date is the carrying value of each class of financial assets disclosed in Note 37. The Group does 
not hold collateral as security.
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Figures in R’000 2020 2019
Group 1 7 146 1 049
Group 2 12 021 73 911
Group 3 11 902 137 028
Group 4 1 448 3 397
TOTAL 32 517 215 385

Figures in R’000 2020 2019
MOVEMENT ON THE CREDIT LOSSES IS AS FOLLOWS:
Balance at the beginning of the year 36 501 20 607
Impairment loss made during the year 2 161 14 046
Expected Credit loss provided for 239 2 079
Reversal of impairment loss from prior year (21 201) (231)
Disposal of Subsidiaries (16 933) -
BALANCE AT THE END OF THE YEAR 767 36 501

Group 1 - new customers (less than six months).
Group 2 - existing customers (more than six months) with no defaults (no bad debt write-off/hand-overs) in the past.
Group 3 - existing customers (more than six months) with some defaults.
Group 4 - customers with defaults, no trading and hand over. This category of trade receivables related mainly to 

contractors and sub-contractors exposed to government and parastatal bodies. Appropriate security policies 
are in place to limit this category.

Set out below is the information about the credit risk exposure on the Group’s trade receivables using a provision matrix:

Credit quality of trade and other receivables can be analysed as follows:

RECONCILIATION OF TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES LOSS ALLOWANCE

Management  does  not  expect  any  losses  from  non-performance  by  these  counterparties  as  the  disclosure  above  is  the
maximum exposure due from credit risk.

Trade receivables are held as collateral on the overdraft facility with the bank.

Figures R'000
Carrying 

Value
ECL Rate Expected 

Credit Loss
2020
TRADE DEBTORS CARRYING AMOUNT:
Current 16 327 0,56% 91
30 Days 8 044 0,52% 42
60 Days 5 151 0,49% 25
90 Days 1 205 1,41% 17
+120 Days 1 790 3,58% 64
TOTAL 32 517 239

2019
TRADE DEBTORS CARRYING AMOUNT:
Current 63 355 0,78% 500
30 Days 34 707 0,80% 279
60 Days 17 873 1,09% 195
90 Days 8 740 1,56% 136
+120 Days 90 710 1,07% 969
TOTAL 215 385 2 079
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 31 March 
2020 

 31 March 
2020

 31 March 
2019

 31 March 
2019

Moody’s Fitch Moody’s Fitch
ABSA Bank Limited P - 3 F1 P - 2 F3
Bidvest Bank P - 1 F1 N/a N/a
First National (a division of FirstRand Bank Limited) P - 3 F1 P - 2 F3
Nedbank Limited P - 3 F1 P - 2 F3

MOODY’S RATING SCALE
P - 1: Issuers have a superior ability to repay short-term debt obligations
P - 2: Issuers have a strong ability to repay short-term debt obligations
P - 3: Issuers have an acceptable ability to repay short-term debt obligations

FITCH RATING SCALE
F1: Best quality grade, indicating exceptionally strong capacity of obligor to meet its financial commitments
F3: Fair quality grade with adequate capacity of obligor to meet its financial commitment but near term adverse conditions 
could impact the obligor’s commitments

Management does not expect any losses from non-performance by these counterparties.

OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS
Other  financial  assets  vary  from  being  short  term  to  five-year  term  debt  with  market  related  interest  rates  terms  and 
conditions. Loans to associates are provided based on the credit risk assessment of the entity. Liquidity and solvency tests are 
assessed as part of the loan approval process. The exposure are monitored on an ongoing basis. Management has assessed 
the credit  quality  of  these  assets  based  on  historical  defaults,  the  borrowers  ability  to  pay  the  debt  and  the  security  
that management has in place over these amounts. ECLs on other financial assets are only provided once indicators exist that 
cast doubt on the borrowers ability to repay the amounts due. Management has assessed the need to provide for an ECL of 
R47m on the debt due from TTRO, refer to note 9 for further info.

LIQUIDITY RISK
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due. The Group’s approach 
to managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will always have sufficient cash/ liquid assets to meet its liabilities 
when due, under both normal and stressed conditions, without incurring unacceptable losses or risking damage to the Group’s 
reputation.

Typically the Group ensures that it has sufficient cash on demand to meet expected operational expenses for a period of 60 
days, including the servicing of financial obligations; this excludes the potential impact of extreme circumstances that cannot 
reasonably be predicted, such as natural disasters. In addition, the Group’s statement of financial position remains lowly 
geared and thus the directors are comfortable with the ability to receive lines of credit.

DEPOSITS WITH BANKS
The credit risk policy for financial institutions and service providers has the objective to minimise losses that could result from 
counterparty failure. All such counterparties are assessed on an annual basis to ensure credit worthiness and the evaluations 
will be based on the financial strength of the counterparty as published by a recognised rating agency.

Short term credit ratings with banks where balances are held:
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INTEREST RATE RISK
The Group exposure on fair value interest rate risk mainly arises from its fixed deposits with banks. It also has exposure on cash 
flow interest rate risk which is mainly arising from its deposits with banks and interest-bearing borrowings with the banks. It 
is a common practice in South Africa to have floating rate borrowings with the banks. 

In order to manage the cash flow interest rate risk, the Group will repay the corresponding borrowings when it has surplus 
funds.

Figures R'000
Less than 1 

year
Between 1 

and 5 years
 Total 

2020
Other financial liabilities 72 597 3 740 76 337
Deferred vendor payments 7 014 - 7 014
Trade and other payables 38 141 - 38 141
Bank overdraft 863 - 863

118 615 3 740 122 355

2019
Other financial liabilities 3 345 3 023 6 368
Deferred vendor payments 7 473 - 7 473
Trade and other payables 91 427 - 91 427
Bank overdraft 22 546 - 22 546

124 791 3 023 127 814

Figures in R’000 2020 2019
Other financial assets 987 843 79 854
Cash and cash equivalents 14 734 41 672
Bank overdraft (863) (22 546)
Other financial liabilities (75 550) (6 633)
Deferred vendor payments (7 014) (7 473)
Less: Non-interest bearing financial assets/(liabilities) (165 346) (35 541)
Less: Non-interest bearing deferred vendor payments 7 014 7 473
Net interest-bearing assets/(liabilities) 760 818 56 806

Interest rate change 2 % 2 %
Potential after tax impact on earnings 10 956 818

SENSITIVITY ANALYSIS BASED ON BALANCES AT REPORTING DATE:

The table below analyses the Group’s financial liabilities that will be expected to be settled on a net basis into relevant maturity 
Group’s based on the remaining period at the reporting date to the contractual maturity date. The amounts disclosed in the 
table are the contractual undiscounted cash flows:

The sensitivity analysis has been prepared with the assumption that the change in interest rates had occurred at the balance 
sheet date and had been applied to the exposure to interest rate risk for the relevant financial instruments in existence at that 
date. The changes in interest rate represent management’s assessment of a reasonably possible change in interest rates at 
that date over the period until the next annual balance sheet date.

CURRENCY RISK
The Group is exposed to currency risk on sales and purchases that are denominated in a currency other than the respective 
functional currency of the Group.

The exposure to currency risk as at year end is disclosed in note 12 trade and other receivables, note 13 cash and cash 
equivalents and note 20 trade and other payables.
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In respect of purchases and payables, the Group controls its volume of purchase orders to a tolerable level and avoids 
concentrating the purchases in a single foreign currency by diversifying such foreign currency risk exposure.

In respect of sales and receivables, the Group sets a prudent credit limit to individual customers who transact with it in other 
foreign currencies. The directors’ approval is required on the exposure to an individual customer or transaction that exceeds 
the limit.

SENSITIVITY ANALYSIS
The sensitivity analysis has been prepared with the assumption that the change in foreign exchange rates had occurred at the 
balance sheet date and had been applied to the exposure to currency risk for the relevant financial instruments in existence 
at that date. The changes in foreign exchange rates represent management’s assessment of a reasonably possible change in 
foreign exchange rates at that date over the period until the next annual balance sheet date. 

A 10% weakening of the Rand against the currencies referred in the trade and other receivables, cash and cash equivalents 
and trade and other payables notes would have increased/(decreased) equity and post-tax profit by:

Average rate Closing rate Average rate Closing rate
2020 2019

British Pound  18.78558  22.16922 18.818997 18.020078

Figures in R’000 2020 2019

British Pound 1 368 9 409
Net foreign currency exposure 1 368 9 409

Potential after tax impact on earnings     98 677

SUMMARY OF THE AVERAGE AND CLOSING RATES:

A 10% strengthening of the Rand against the above currencies as at 31 March would have had the equal but opposite
effect on the above currencies to the amounts shown, on the basis that all variables remain constant.

39. CAPITAL MANAGEMENT
The boards policy is to maintain a strong capital base to maintain creditor and shareholder confidence and to sustain future 
development of the business. The board monitors return on capital, which the Group defines as net operating income divided 
by total shareholders equity. The board also monitors the level of dividends to ordinary shareholders. There were no changes 
in the Group’s approach to capital management during the year. The Group is not subject to externally imposed capital 
requirements.

40. SEGMENT INFORMATION
The operating segments are based on reports reviewed by the executive committee who makes the strategic-decisions of the 
Group, and who is therefore the chief operating decision-making body of the Group.

REPORTABLE SEGMENTS
The executive committee assesses the performance of these operating segments based on attributable earnings to the
Group.
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2020

Figures in R’000
Software 
Solutions

ICT Support 
Services

Holdings and 
consolidated*  Total 

Revenue 19 475 168 414 (26 479) 161 410
Depreciation, amortisation and impairments 2 026 4 146 13 360 19 532
Employee costs 8 863 40 314 15 855 65 032
Finance income/(expenses) (62) 29 (937) (970)
Share of profit of equity accounted associates - - (2 098) (2 098)
Tax expense (628) 1 383 (11 743) (10 988)
Earnings attributable to owners of the parent 2 734 1 269 (129 257) (125 254)

Assets 29 254 54 855 1 632 201 1 716 310
Liabilities 9 699 24 410 414 401 448 510

Figures in R’000
Software 
Solutions

ICT Support 
Services

Holdings and 
consolidated*  Total 

Revenue 17 745 143 304 (9 394) 151 655
Depreciation, amortisation and impairments 729 1 895 2 670 5 294
Employee costs 7 602 25 484 31 990 65 076
Finance income/(expenses) 78 148 346 572
Share of profit of equity accounted associates - - 1 896 1 896
Tax expense 2 873 1 247 99 334 103 454
Earnings attributable to owners of the parent 1 074 3 595 172 854 177 523

Assets 20 918 43 311 37 965 102 194
Liabilities 3 133 13 907 (240 845) (223 805)

2019 REPRESENTED

* Holdings and consolidated mainly comprise the corporate office and reconciling items. These predominantly include 
elimination of interGroup sales, profits and interGroup receivables and payables and other unallocated assets and liabilities 
contained in the integrated Group. Holdings and consolidated is not considered to be an operating segment.

The group is organised into two reportable segments:
1. Software Solutions: Consists of the development of bespoke software solutions
2.  ICT Support Services: Consists of the supply of WAN, LAN and associated information technology solutions.

Intersegment  transactions  are  entered  into  under  the  normal  commercial  terms  and  conditions.  The  revenue  from  
external parties is measured in a manner consistent with that of the statement of profit and loss.

Segment assets consist primarily of property, plant and equipment, intangible assets, investments in associates, deferred tax 
assets, inventories, trade and other receivables and cash and cash equivalents.

Segment liabilities comprise primarily of other financial liabilities, deferred tax liabilities, trade and other payables, bank 
overdrafts and income tax liabilities.

The majority of the group companies are domiciled in South Africa and mainly serve the South African market. The result of 
revenue from external customers in South Africa is R161.4 million (2019: R151.6 million) and is allocated to each segment as 
per the table above.

There are no customers that exceed 10% of the group’s revenues.
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41. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND BALANCES
The Group entered into transactions and had balances with related parties as listed below. These include associates, joint 
operations, directors and members of key management. The transactions that are eliminated on consolidation are not 
included. Transactions with related parties are effected on a commercial basis and related party debts are repayable on a 
commercial basis.

Refer to note 31 for the detailed Directors Emoluments.

A listing of the Group’s principal and fellow subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates is set out in note 42.

Figures in R’000 2020 2019
KYOSTAX PROPRIETARY LIMITED
Associate
Rental Expense - 17 058
Repayment of lease liability 15 563 -
Other financial assets 3 640 4 640

  
KAMBERG INVESTMENT HOLDINGS PROPRIETARY LIMITED
Shareholder
Shareholder loan 6 732 -
Interest paid 661 846

LAIRD INVESTMENTS PROPRIETARY LIMITED
Shareholder
Shareholder loan 43 770 -
Interest paid 14 085 3 079

TALACAR HOLDINGS PROPRIETARY LIMITED
Consulting fees 2 538 2 538

THE FOLLOWING TRANSACTIONS WERE CARRIED OUT WITH RELATED PARTIES:
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Name   
 Interest held 

2020

 Interest held 

2019

 Issued 
capital 

2020

 Country 

SUBSIDIARIES - DIRECT AND INDIRECT INTEREST
Arbez Advanced Solutions Proprietary Limited 100% 100% 1 000 RSA
Cloudware Proprietary Limited 100% 100% 100 RSA
ESGA Proprietary Limited 100% 100% 100 RSA
Freshmark Systems Proprietary Limited 55% 55% 100 RSA
IPES Utility Management Systems Proprietary Limited 0% 100% 100 RSA
Micromega Financial Services Proprietary Limited 100% 100% 100 RSA
Micromega H2O Proprietary Limited 100% 83% 100 RSA
Micromega Services and Support DRC 100% 100% 69 282 DRC
Micromega Technologies Proprietary Limited 100% 100% 100 RSA
Micromega Treasury Solutions Proprietary Limited 100% 100% 8 404 751 RSA
MIS Consulting Proprietary Limited 100% 100% 100 RSA
Mubesko Africa Proprietary Limited 0% 50% 100 RSA
Nerdworks Proprietary Limited 88% 88% 954 878 RSA
NOSA Investment Holdings Proprietary Limited (Hong 
Kong) 100% 100% 1 Hong Kong

NOSA Investment Holdings Proprietary Limited (South 
Africa) 100% 100% 100 RSA

NOSA Mozambique Proprietary Limited 100% 100% 7 418 Mozambique
NOSA Technologies Proprietary Limited 84% 84% 100 RSA
NOSA Travel Agency Proprietary Limited 100% 100% 1 RSA
Ocneblok Proprietary Limited 100% 100% 200 RSA
Sciam Professional Solutions Proprietary Limited 100% 100% 100 Swaziland
Stable-Net Proprietary Limited 100% 100% 120 RSA
Turrito Networks Proprietary Limited 88% 88% 100 RSA
USC Manufacturing Proprietary Limited 100% 100% 100 RSA

ASSOCIATES - DIRECT AND INDIRECT INTEREST
Kyostax Proprietary Limited 30% 30% 100 RSA
Pro Automation Proprietary Limited 30% 0% 100 RSA
Micromega  Accounting  and  Professional  Services  
Proprietary Limited 43% 100% 16 RSA

Amanzi Proprietary Limited 18% 75% 200 RSA
R-Data Proprietary Limited 43% 100% 1 000 RSA
Sebata Municipal Solutions Proprietary Limited 43% 100% 7 931 095 RSA
USC Metering Proprietary Limited 43% 83% 120 RSA
FIDO Tech Limited 25% 0% 1 000 UK

42. LIST OF SUBSIDIARIES, ASSOCIATES
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43. EVENTS AFTER REPORTING DATE
In terms of IAS 10 Events after the reporting period, non-adjusting post balance sheet events are events after the reporting 
period that are indicative of a condition that arose after the reporting period ended 31 March 2020.

On 15 May 2020, the group announced that it had entered into an agreement to dispose of its 73.20% interest in Turrito 
Networks Proprietary Limited (“Turrito”) and Nerdworks Proprietary Limited (“Nerdworks”) for a consideration of R24,1 million. 
While the Board had not actively been looking for a buyer, it was approached by the Purchaser, and the Management Sellers 
(as defined in the announcement), with the offer to purchase the respective shareholding in Nerdworks and Turrito. The Board 
believes that the transaction unlocks value in the assets which do not fit into the current portfolio of investments and believes 
that the Management Sellers and the Purchaser are best placed to take over the assets.

On 15 July 2020 shareholders voted to approve the sale of 60% of the Software Group comprising Sebata Municipal Solutions, 
R-data and Micromega Accounting and Professional Services to Inzalo Capital Holdings.

It was concluded that the declaration of COVID-19 as a pandemic is such a non-adjusting event. The impact of COVID-19 on 
accounting standards that require the use of forward-looking information (expected credit losses and goodwill impairment) 
was assessed based on information available.

At the date of this report its direct and indirect effects are subject to significant levels of uncertainty. The impact of COVID-19 is 
expected to be felt on the group’s trade debtors’ book and short-term liquidity. It is already clear that the continued economic 
downturn will result in a significant contraction in Government spend and will have a direct impact on our ability to generate 
revenue.

It is anticipated that the COVID-19 pandemic may have a substantial impact on revenue. It is, however, not possible to make 
an accurate estimate of its full financial effect for the year ahead as the virus’s infection rate and impact on macro-economic 
conditions remains uncertain.

The directors are not aware of any other matter or circumstance arising since the end of the financial year to the date of this 
report that could have a material effect on the financial position of the group.

44. GOING CONCERN
The annual consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the basis of accounting policies applicable to a going 
concern. This basis presumes that funds will be available to finance future operations and that the realisation of assets and 
settlement of liabilities, contingent obligations and commitments will occur in the ordinary course of business.



Sebata Holdings Annual Consolidated Financial Statements For The Year Ended 2020 73

NOTES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS

45. SHAREHOLDERS’ INFORMATION

Analysis of Share Register  
at 31 March 2019

 Number of 
shareholders 

 Percentage of 
shareholders 

 Number of 
shares 

 Percentage of 
share capital 

PORTFOLIO SIZE
1 to 50 000 1 427 96,0 4 977 110 4,33
50 001 to 250 000 30 2,0 3 225 156 2,81
Over 250 000 23 2,0 106 712 823 92,86

1 480 100 114 915 089 100,00

Non-public and public shareholders   Number of 
shareholders 

 Number of 
shares 

 Percentage of 
share capital 

NON-PUBLIC SHAREHOLDERS
Laird Investments Proprietary Limited 1 75 178 873 65,42
Kamberg Investment Holdings Proprietary Limited 1 10 733 180 9,34
Subsidiary Companies 1 1 787 332 1,56
Directors (direct beneficial interest) 3 705 685 0,61
Directors (Subsidiary companies - direct and indirect beneficial interest) 6 1 102 787 0,96

12 89 507 857 77,89
Total public shareholders 1 468 25 407 232 22,11

1 480 114 915 089 100,00

Major shareholders   Number of 
shares 

 Percentage of 
share capital 

Laird Investments (Pty) Ltd 75 178 873 65,42
Kamberg Investment Holdings (Pty) Ltd 10 733 180 9,34
Enigma Investment Holdings (Pty) Ltd 3 762 204 3,27
Seratrix (Pty) Ltd 3 375 200 2,94
RMB Morgan Stanley 2 381 623 2,07
MICROmega Financial Services (Pty) Ltd 1 787 332 1,56
Mr Leon van Heerden 1 434 710 1,25
SBG Securities 1 308 537 1,14
Banque Lombard Odier & CIE SA 719 486 0,63
Legae Peresec (Pty) Ltd 697 746 0,61
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Direct Indirect Direct Indirect
2020 2019

IG Morris - 10 733 180 - 11 483 180
RB Dick*** - - - 592 787
CA King 62 843 75 178 873 40 063 72 579 573
C Kemp* - - 37 220 -
P van Eeden** - - - -
K Moses**** - - - -
DA di Siena - 641 342 - 641 342
RC Lewin - - - -
PH Duvenhage - - - -
S Nodwele***** - - - -
TW Hamill 1 500 75 178 873 1 500 72 579 573 

64 343 86 553 395 78 783 85 296 882
* Resigned 31 October 2018
** Appointed 31 October 2018
*** Resigned 18 April 2018
**** Appointed 1 August 2019
***** Appointed 29 July 2019

DIRECTORS INTEREST IN SECURITIES
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The only changes in these shareholdings from the date of the financial year end to the date of approval of the annual 
consolidated financial statements was the purchase of 1,283,634 shares by Laird Investments.


